
 
 
 

Mrs J Wallace 
Head of Paid Service 
Torridge District Council 
Riverbank House 
Bideford 
Devon 
EX39 2QG 
 
DX 53606 BIDEFORD 
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700 

 

 

 

 
Date: 20 September 2019 

 MEETING OF PLANS COMMITTEE 
 

Town Hall - Bridge Street, Bideford, EX39 2HS 

 Thursday 3 October 2019 at 9.30 am 
 

  

                           NOTICE OF MEETING   

 

To: Councillor C Leather (Chair) 
Councillor M Brown (Vice-Chair) 
Councillors: R Boughton, P Christie, R Craigie, R Lock, D McGeough, P Watson 
and R Wiseman 

 
 

Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the Meeting 

 

AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies For Absence  

 To receive apologies of absence from the meeting. 
 

1.   Apologies For Absence  

 To receive apologies of absence from the meeting. 
 

2.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 9) 

 To receive the Minutes from the meeting held on 5 September 2019. 
 

3.   Declaration of Interest  

 Members with interests to declare should refer to the Agenda item and describe the 
nature of their interest when the item is being considered. 
 



 

 

Elected Members of Devon County Council and Town/Parish Councils who have 
considered a planning application by virtue of their membership of that Council hold a 
personal interest and are deemed to have considered the application separately and 
the expressed views of that Council do not bind the Members concerned who 
consider the application afresh. 
 

4.   Agreement of Agenda between Parts I and II  

5.   Urgent Matters  

 Information to be brought forward with the permission of the Chair. 
 

6.   Future Site Visits  

 The Chair to advise the Committee of any future site visits. 
 

7.   Public Participation  

 The Chair to advise the Committee of any prior requests to speak made by members 
of the public and to advise of the details of the Council’s public participation scheme. 
 

8.   Appeal Decisions Summary (Pages 10 - 33) 

 Appeal Decision Summary and Reports of Planning Inspectorate 
 
Summary 
 
Appeal Decision – Application No. 1/0978/2018/OUT 
Appeal Decision – Application No. 1/0267/2019/FUL 
Appeal Decision – Application No. 1/0100/2018/CPE 
Appeal Decision – Application No. 1/0727/2018/FUL 
Appeal Decision – Application No. 1/0672/2018/OUT 
 

9.   Costs on Appeals  

 There are no costs on Appeals. 
 

10.   Delegated Decisions - AGMB Applications (Page 34) 

 DECISIONS - 22nd August 2019 – 19th September 2019. 
 

11.   Planning Applications  

 The information, recommendations and advice contained in the reports are correct as 
at the date of preparation which is more than ten days in advance of the Committee 
meeting.   Due to these time constraints any changes or necessary updates to the 
reports will be provided in writing or orally at the Committee meeting. 
 

(a)   Application No. 1/0629/2019/FUL (Pages 35 - 41) 

 Renovations and extension to existing dwelling - Homemead, Diddywell Road, 
Northam, Bideford. 
 



 

 

(b)   Application No. 1/0478/2019/FUL (Pages 42 - 50) 

 Erection of two storey dwelling - Land Adjacent To 5 Victoria Terrace, Bideford 
Devon. 
 

(c)   Application No. 1/0557/2019/FUL (Pages 51 - 55) 

 Retrospective application for the alteration of walled entrance and erection of sand 
school - Land Adjacent Woodside, Littleham, Bideford, Devon. 
 

12.   Planning Decisions (Pages 56 - 64) 

 List of Delegated Planning Decisions, Consultee Abbreviations and Application Types 
enclosed 22nd August 2019 and 19th September 2019. 
 

13.   Exclusion of Public  

 The Chair to move:- 
 
That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely 
disclosure of exempt information by virtue of Part 1 Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 

14.   Part II - Closed Session  

 There are no Part II items. 
 

15.   COMMITTEE ORGANISER  :  Sandra Cawsey   (01237 428703)  

  
 
For those wishing to speak at Plans Committee please contact: 
 
Planning Support  -         Tel:   01237 428778 or 428711 
                                        Email:   speak.planning@torridge.gov.uk 
                                        Website:  www.torridge.gov.uk/speakplanning 
 

The background papers are considered to comprise the following documents: 
 

- The individual planning application file (reference number quoted in each case) 
- North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 (Adopted October 2018) 
- Current Government guidance contained in Circulars, the National Planning Policy 

Framework, Planning Policy for Traveller Sites and Ministerial Statements 
- Any other documents specifically referred to in the report. 

 
All background papers referred to are available for examination during normal office hours. 

 

mailto:speak.planning@torridge.gov.uk
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/speakplanning


 

 

NOTE TO MEMBERS 
 
All letters of representations are readily available for inspection on the files or through the 
website and public access.  If any Member requires assistance in using this facility, please 
contact the Development Enabling Manager directly. 
 
Members of the Committee only will receive hard copies of representations received. 

 

 
 

Meeting Organiser: Sandra Cawsey 
 

 
For those wishing to speak at Plans Committee please contact: 
 
Planning Support  -         Tel:   01237 428778 or 428711 
                                        Email:   speak.planning@torridge.gov.uk 
                                        Website:  www.torridge.gov.uk/speakplanning 

 

 
 

mailto:speak.planning@torridge.gov.uk
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/speakplanning


1 
 

 
 

 
TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
PLANS COMMITTEE MEETING 

 
Town Hall - Bridge Street, Bideford, EX39 2HS 

 
Thursday, 5 September 2019 - 9.30 am 

 
 

PRESENT Councillor C Leather (Chair) 
Councillors M Brown, R Boughton, P Christie, R Lock, 
D McGeough, P Watson, R Wiseman, L Ford and S Langford 
(substitute for R Craigie) 

 
ALSO PRESENT S Harrington - Development Manager 
 S Dorey - Senior Solicitor 
 K Evely - Planning Officer 
 S Cawsey - Democratic Services Officer 
   
 Members of the public - 6 

 
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting. 
 
Apologies were received from Councillors M Brown and R Craigie. 
 

25.   MINUTES  
 
It was proposed by Councillor Lock, seconded by Councillor Watson and – 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 4 July 2019, be agreed and signed as a 
correct record, subject to the following amendment: 
 
Minute 23 (b)  - to add the word “refused” following proposed and seconded 
 
(Vote: For 7, Abstentions 2) 
 

26.   DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
 
The Chair reminded Members to declare their interests when the relevant item was 
up for discussion.  Declarations of interest were made as indicated below and in 
accordance with the previously agreed arrangements for “dual-hatted” Members. 
 

27.   AGREEMENT OF AGENDA BETWEEN PARTS I AND II  
 
That the Agenda as circulated be agreed. 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



2 
 

 
 

 
28.   URGENT MATTERS  

 
There were no urgent matters brought forward, but the Committee was informed of 
the following: 
 
Councillor Lock reported that the applicant on the wind turbine application for 
Eastlake Farm, Dolton, had now submitted Appeal papers to the Planning 
Inspector. 
 
Councillor Christie referred to discussions he had had with Planning Officers 
regarding a change to the Local Plan.  Climate Emergency had been agreed by the 
Council, but as it stands the Local Plan opposes it.  This should be reviewed as a 
matter of urgency.  
 

29.   FUTURE SITE VISITS  
 
The Chair informed the Committee that there were currently no site visits planned.  
He reminded Members of the necessity for them to attend site visits that take place 
on the Thursday prior to Plans Committee meetings. 
 

30.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
The Chair advised the Committee and members of the public of the details in 
respect of the Council’s public participation scheme.  
 

31.   APPEAL DECISIONS SUMMARY  
 
The Committee noted the Appeal Decisions. 
 

32.   COSTS ON APPEALS  
 
The Committee noted the Costs on Appeal Decision. 
 

33.   DELEGATED DECISIONS - AGMB APPLICATIONS  
 
The Committee noted the Delegated Decisions. 
 

34.    PLANNING APPLICATIONS  
 
(a)   Application No. 1/0335/2019/FUL 

 
 The following Councillors had attended the site visit listed below: 

Councillors C Leather, R Lock, L Ford, R Boughton, R Wiseman and  
P Watson 
 
 
Application No. 1/0335/2019/FUL -  Erection of new fence boundary 
- Brackenside, Bucks Cross, Bideford 
 

Page 6



3 
 

 
 

Interests:    None 
 
Officer Recommendation:     Grant 
 
 
The planning application had been called into Plans Committee by 
Councillor Harding so that Members can consider whether the 
proposal would be in keeping with the Grade 2 Listed Building 
(Brackenside), in accordance with policy DM07 and ST15 of the 
NDTLP. 
 
Prior to the presentation of the report, Members were informed of the 
following updates: 
 

 An additional representation objecting to the application  

 An amendment to Condition 3 as follows - “………. The works 
should be carried out in accordance with the submitted 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) and Arboricutural 
Statement (AMS) dated 23/8/2019 produced by Advanced 
Arboriculture. 

 
The Planning Officer presented the report and advised Members of 
the main planning considerations. 
 
When debating the proposal, it became evident that Members were in 
support of the application but sought clarity on the following issues: 
 

 Trees containing Tree Preservation Orders – The Planning 
Officer explained that legal proceedings would be taken should 
the trees be damaged or cut down.     

  

 Barrier to wildlife – this was not deemed to be an issue as the 
original proposal was for a close boarded fence had been 
amended, and  permission was now sought for the erection of 
a post and wire fence. 

 
Further discussion followed when Members again emphasised their 
concerns with regard to the Tree Preservation Orders, and suggested 
that if the application was to be Granted a letter should be written to 
the Manager of the site emphasising that the trees contain Tree 
Preservation Orders and therefore must not be damaged or cut 
down.     The Planning Officer recommended that this matter be 
added as an informative and condition 3 be amended to state that the 
works be carried out in accordance with the Agricultural Impact 
Assessment.   
 
It was proposed by Councillor Watson, seconded by Councillor 
Wiseman that the application be approved. 
 
 

Page 7



4 
 

 
 

A recorded vote was taken to approve the application. 
 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr L Ford X   

Cllr R Boughton  X  

Cllr P Christie  X  

Cllr S Langford X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr K James X   

 
 
(Vote:  For 7, Against 2) 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the application be Granted subject to the amendments as 
stated above and the conditions as set out in the report. 
 
 
Ms Laura Spittles addressed the Committee objecting to the 
application. 
Councillor P Hames addressed the Committee objecting to the 
application. 
Councillor S Harding, Ward Member, addressed the Committee. 
 
 

(b)   Application No. 1/0106/2019/FUL 
 

 Application No. 1/0106/2019/FUL  -  New 8th hole tees & green, 
new 9th hole tees, amendments to 7th hole green, timber access 
bridge and associated bunkers - Royal North Devon Golf Club, 
Westward Ho!, Bideford 
 
Interests:  Councillor Ford declared a personal interest – his brother 
is the Chairman at the Royal North Devon Golf Club 
 
Officer Recommendation:     Grant 
 
 
The planning application had been referred to Plans Committee as 
the application is on land within the ownership of Torridge District 
Council. 
 
The Development Manager presented the report and advised 
Members of the main planning considerations. 
 

Page 8



5 
 

 
 

It was proposed by Councillor Lock, seconded by Councillor Watson 
that the application be approved. 
 
A recorded vote was taken to approve the application. 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr L Ford X   

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr P Christie X   

Cllr S Langford X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr K James X   

 
 
(Vote:  For – Unanimous) 
 
The motion was carried. 
 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the application be Granted subject to the conditions as 
stated in the report. 
 
 

35.   PLANNING DECISIONS  
 
RESOLVED 
 

That the Planning decisions for the period 20 June 2019 and 22 August 2019  be 
noted. 
 
 

The meeting commenced at 9.30am and closed at 10.20am. 
 
 
 
 
Chair:  Date:  
 
 

Page 9



 
 

APPEAL DECISIONS SUMMARY 
Committee 3rd October 2019  

 
 

 
Application Number 

 
Address/Proposal 

 
Appeal 

Decision 
 
 

 
Officer 

Recommendation 

 
Committee/ 
Delegated 

 
Cost 

 
 
1/0978/2018/OUT 
 

 

 
Lake House 
Road Past Lake Methodist Chapel 
Shebbear 
EX21 5SJ 

 

 
 
Dismissed 

 
Refused 
 

 
Delegated 

 
No 

 
 
1/0267/2019/FUL 
 

 

 
30 Highfield 
Northam 
Devon 
EX39 1BB 

 

 
Allowed 

 
Refused 

 
Delegated 

 
No 

 
1/0100/2018/CPE 
 

 

 
Rosie’s Barn 
Woolsery 
Bideford 
Devon 
EX39 5RE 

 

 
Dismissed 

 
Refused 

 
Delegated 

 
No 

 
1/0727/2018/FUL 
 

 

 
The Stone Barn 
Lane Past Old South Beer Farm 
Clawton 
EX22 6PF 

 

 
Dismissed 

 
Refused 

 
Delegated 

 
No 

 
1/0672/2018/OUT 
 

 

 
Land Opposite Bradford Primary 
School 
Holemoor 
Bradford 
Holsworthy 
EX22 7AB 

 

 
Dismissed 

 
Refused 

 
Delegated 

 
No 

 
 
 

P
age 10

A
genda Item

 8



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 10 July 2019 

by D Boffin BSc (Hons) DipTP MRTPI Dip Bldg Cons (RICS) IHBC 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 30 August 2019 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/W/19/3223987 

Lake House, Road Past Lake Methodist Chapel, Shebbear EX21 5SJ 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant outline planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr & Mrs Fred & Jayne Roffey against the decision of Torridge 

District Council. 
• The application Ref No: 1/0978/2018/OUT, dated 5 September 2018, was refused by 

notice dated 12 November 2018. 
• The development proposed is one new dwelling. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. The application was submitted in outline with all matters to be reserved for 
later consideration. I have dealt with the appeal on this basis, treating the site 

plan that shows the layout and access to the highway as indicative. 

3. The Council’s reasons for refusal cites a grade II listed chapel, shown as Lake 

Methodist Church on the submitted plans, and the effect of the proposal on the 

setting of that heritage asset.  However, the Council has confirmed that the 
church/chapel is not a grade II listed building but that a number of headstones 

within its graveyard are grade II listed.  The parties have had the opportunity 

to comment on these matters and are therefore not prejudiced by my 

consideration of them. 

4. The Council’s first reason for refusal cites, amongst other things, Policy DM07 
of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (LP).  However, I consider that this 

is a typographical error as the Council’s Delegated Report for the planning 

application refers to LP Policy ST07 within the principle of development section.  

I have been provided with a copy of LP Policy ST07 and the appellants have 
had the opportunity to comment on it and have cited it within their evidence.  

As such, they would not be prejudiced by my consideration of it. 

Main Issues 

5. The main issues are: -  

• Whether the site would be a suitable location for a dwelling having 

regard to the spatial development strategy of the LP and policies of the 

National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) with regard to rural 

housing; 

Page 11

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/19/3223987 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

• The effect on the character and appearance of the area having regard to 

the nearby heritage assets. 

Reasons 

6. The appeal site comprises part of the extensive garden areas to Lake House.  

Access to the site would be gained off an existing access drive which runs 

adjacent to Lake Methodist Church and its graveyard.  I observed that part of 

that access drive also appears to be a public right of way (PROW). The appeal 
proposal would involve the construction of one dwelling. 

Spatial strategy 

7. The LP was adopted in October 2018 and LP Policy ST07 sets out the spatial 

development strategy for Northern Devon’s rural area.  Shebbear is identified 

within Schedule A, of this policy, as a Local Centre where development will be 

enabled within development boundaries and on allocated sites in accordance 
with local spatial strategies.  Section (4) of LP Policy ST07 states that in the 

countryside beyond Local Centres, Villages and Rural Settlements, 

development will be limited to certain exceptions. 

8. I have not been provided with any local spatial strategy that specifically relates 

to Shebbear.  I acknowledge that the appeal site is adjacent to a cluster of 

buildings that are close to Lake Methodist Church.  As such, the proposal would 
not lead to the development of an isolated home in the countryside and it 

therefore comply with paragraph 79 of the Framework.   

9. Nevertheless, the appeal site is outside of the development boundary for 

Shebbear and is not an allocated site.  Therefore, for the purposes of LP Policy 

ST07 it is to be treated as being in the countryside.  The development would 
not involve rural building reuse, and although it would provide housing, I have 

little evidence before me to indicate that it would meet an identified local 

economic or social need or is a development which is necessarily restricted to a 
countryside location.  It follows that the proposal would conflict with LP Policy 

ST07. 

10. As stated above, Shebbear is a Local Centre and therefore it has a number of 

services and facilities within it.  These services and facilities are within walking 

and cycling distance of the appeal site.  There are also bus services that run 
through the settlement.  Consequently, there would be a choice of transport 

modes for future residents and paragraph 103 of the Framework recognises 

that opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary from 
urban to rural areas. As a result, the appeal site is within a relatively accessible 

location for a rural area.   

11. Nevertheless, the same circumstances would arise in relation to other sites 

which are close to the development boundaries of this and other settlements 

identified as Local Centres within the spatial development strategy.  This factor 
simply indicates that the proposal would not cause material harm in this 

respect. 

12. Paragraph 78 of the Framework sets out that to promote sustainable 

development in rural areas, housing should be located where it will enhance or 

maintain the vitality of rural communities.  It is likely that the future occupiers 
of the dwellings would utilise and help to maintain the vitality of the services 

within Shebbear.  However, the contribution that the development and 

Page 12

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/19/3223987 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

occupation of one new dwelling would make to the vitality of the rural 

community would be small. 

13. Taking into account all of the above, even though the proposal would comply 

with paragraphs 78 and 79 of the Framework, when judged against LP Policy 

ST07 the proposal would not be in a suitable location as the Council’s spatial 
development strategy would be undermined. 

Character, appearance and heritage assets 

14. Due to mature trees and landscaping along and adjacent to the boundaries of 
the appeal site views of the site are restricted to near/middle distance views 

from the access drive/PROW.  The appeal site is part of the garden associated 

with Lake House and it is on an edge of the cluster of buildings that located to 

the north of Lake Methodist Church.  There are open and undeveloped areas 
adjoining the appeal site and the remaining parts of the gardens to Lake 

House. Moreover, the appeal site is at an appreciably higher ground level to 

Lake House and the majority of its other garden areas and it has an informal in 
appearance as it is mainly turfed with a number of trees within and around its 

boundaries. 

15. I acknowledge that the proposal would not lead to an encroachment of 

domestic development into agricultural land and that planning consent has 

been granted for a dwelling within an adjacent part of the garden to Lake 
House.  However, the difference in levels and its informal appearance mean 

that the appeal site is viewed as a transitional area with the adjoining 

countryside.  As such, the development of another dwelling would slightly 

extend the urbanising nature of this cluster of buildings when viewed from the 
access drive/PROW. 

16. However, the close proximity of the appeal site to the approved dwelling and 

Lake House would limit the harm to the rural character and appearance of the 

area.  Furthermore, as this is an outline application, a reserved matters 

scheme could be appropriately designed to ensure that the visual impact of the 
dwelling would be minimised and that its design would be in keeping local 

character and architectural styling. 

17. Consequently, taking into account the above, the urbanising effect would be 

limited and the proposal would not be incongruous to the character and 

appearance of the area.  It follows that the proposal would not conflict with LP 
Policy DM04 which, amongst other things, seeks developments that reinforce 

the key characteristics and special qualities of the area in which the 

development is proposed. 

18. Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990, (the Act) requires the decision maker, in considering whether to grant 
planning permission for development which affects a listed building or its 

setting, to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or 

its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest. The 
glossary to the Framework states that the setting of a heritage asset comprises 

the surroundings in which it is experienced. 

19. The definition of heritage assets, as set out in the Framework, includes 

designated heritage assets and non-designated heritage assets (NDHA) 

identified by the local planning authority.  Such assets are those identified as 

Page 13

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/19/3223987 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

having a degree of significance due to their heritage interest that merits 

consideration in planning decisions.  The building, Lake Methodist Church, is 

not included within a ‘local list’ but it has been identified as a NDHA by the 
Council. 

20. The grade II listed headstones that are sited within the graveyard of Lake 

Methodist Church relate to the Thorne family that were associated with the 

Bible Christian movement and the church.  Based on the evidence before me I 

consider that the significance of the headstones is largely derived from their 
historic, evidential and aesthetic value connected with the links to this notable 

local family, the Bible Christian movement and their historic fabric.   

21. I noted that due to the distance of the graveyard from the appeal site and 

intervening vegetation that there is limited intervisibility between the appeal 

site and the graveyard.   In addition, due to the intervening boundary 
treatments and vegetation the headstones are not visible from the appeal site.  

Moreover, the significance of the headstones is predominantly experienced 

from within the graveyard.  As such, the proposal would have negligible impact 

on this experience.  Furthermore, I have no evidence to suggest that the 
appeal site formed part of the land that was historically associated with the 

headstones or the church.  As a result, even if the appeal site was considered 

to form part of the setting to the headstones the proposal would have a neutral 
impact on the appreciation of the special interest/significance of the listed 

building. 

22. Lake Methodist Church has been identified as NDHA by the Council and this 

appears to be based on its historic, evidential, aesthetic and communal value 

as a place of worship.  The building is a smalll vernacular church/chapel and is 
of some age and has associations with a notable local family and the Bible 

Christian movement.  Therefore, I consider that it does have an appreciable 

amount of historic, evidential and communal value. Even though, it has had 

modern replacement windows inserted its overall architectural form makes a 
positive contribution to the streetscene as it is visible from the junction of the 

access drive with one of the roads that runs through the settlement. As such, it 

also has a modest level of aesthetic value.  Based on my observations, I 
consider that this building is of sufficient historic interest to be treated as a 

NDHA.  Its significance derives from its age, form, architectural features and 

past use. 

23. The church is set within a landscaped graveyard and when viewed from the 

road adjacent to its junction with the access drive it is seen in conjunction with 
the adjacent schoolroom, the grounds of the nearby school/college and the 

undeveloped land on the opposite side of the access drive.  Its location on the 

outskirts of settlement relates to its use as a church and worshippers wanting 
privacy when visiting it.  Therefore, the informal rural character of the 

graveyard in combination with the rural landscape setting make a positive 

contribution to its significance.  Due to the intervening vegetation there would 

be little intervisibility between the appeal site and the church.  However, at 
certain times of the year it may be possible to see the church and parts of the 

proposed dwelling together in views from the access drive/road junction.  

Accordingly, I consider that the appeal site could be treated as being within the 
rural landscape setting of this heritage asset. 

Page 14

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/19/3223987 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

24. However, it would be some distance from the church and its level of visibility 

would alter during the year due to the intervening vegetation. I acknowledge 

that the vegetation is not permanent and that views to and from the appeal 
site could be increased or decreased in the future.  Nevertheless, there is no 

firm evidence before me to suggest that the existing situation is likely to 

change in the near future.  Moreover, as stated above there is little before me 

to indicate that the appeal site was historically associated with the church.  As 
a result, although the presence of additional built form would slightly erode the 

wider rural landscape setting of the church, I consider that overall the values 

that contribute to its significance would be preserved. 

25. Taking into account all of the above, the proposal would not harm the special 

interest or significance of the nearby heritage assets.  It follows that the 
proposal would comply with LP Policies ST15 and DM07 which state, amongst 

other things, that great weight will be given to the desirability of preserving 

and enhancing northern Devon’s historic environment and proposals which 
conserve and enhance heritage assets and their settings will be supported. 

Other matters 

26. The appellants have drawn to my attention to a number of planning consents 

on sites nearby to the appeal site.  However, I have very little evidence of the 
circumstances that led to these proposals being accepted.  However, it would 

appear that these planning applications were determined before the LP was 

adopted and a different approach to decision-taking was therefore required in 
those cases.  As such, I do not consider that they are directly comparable to 

the case before me and have little weight.  In any case, I am required to 

determine the appeal on its individual merits. 

27. The references to other development plan policies have been noted. However, 

the development plan policies to which I have referred are considered the most 
relevant to this appeal. 

Overall Balance and Conclusion 

28. The Council have stated that they can demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing 
land, this is not specifically disputed by the appellant and the development plan 

has been recently adopted.  Therefore, I have no evidence before me to 

indicate that section d) of paragraph 11 of the Framework is relevant to this 

case. I have found that the proposal would conflict with LP Policy ST07.  This 
policy pre-dates the publication of the 2019 version of the Framework.  Taking 

into account paragraph 213 of the Framework I consider that the policy is 

consistent with the Framework and that therefore this conflict has full weight.   

29. Moreover, paragraph 15 of the Framework states that the planning system 

should be genuinely plan-led.  The conflict with the spatial development 
strategy leads me to conclude that the proposal would conflict with the 

development plan as a whole.  In accordance with S38(6) of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, if regard is to be had to the development plan 
for the purpose of any determination to be made under the Planning Acts the 

determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise. 

30. The development would contribute to meeting the Council’s housing provision, 

to which there is no ceiling. The appeal site occupies a relatively accessible 

Page 15

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/19/3223987 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          6 

location. The occupants of the dwellings would help to maintain the vitality of 

the rural community. The proposal would also make a contribution to the local 

economy including the provision of construction jobs and some additional local 
spend.  Given the amount of development proposed, these benefits would be 

likely to be small in scale.  The development would involve the utilisation of a 

small site which can be treated as previously developed land for the purposes 

of the Framework.  Consequently, I give modest weight to these matters taking 
into account the size of the scheme, the Framework’s objective of significantly 

boosting the supply of homes and supportive stance towards utilising small 

sites and previously developed land. 

31. As stated above, bearing in mind that this is an outline application, a reserved 

matters scheme could be appropriately designed in materials that would be 
sympathetic to the vernacular architecture of the surrounding area. The Council 

did not object to the proposal in relation to its impact on highway 

safety/parking, ecology, flood water/drainage or the amenities of neighbouring 
occupiers. However, the lack of harm in these respects is a neutral 

consideration that does not weigh for or against the proposal. 

32. Taking into account all of the above, whilst there would be benefits with 

modest weight associated with the proposal, I consider that there are no 

material considerations, including the provisions of the Framework, of such 
weight to lead me to the conclusion that the proposal should be determined 

other than in accordance with the development plan.  Having regard to all 

other matters raised therefore, I conclude that the appeal should be dismissed.   

D. Boffin 

INSPECTOR 

 

Page 16

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 20 August 2019 

by Thomas Bristow BA MSc MRTPI   

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 30 August 2019 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/D/19/3233930 

30 Highfield, Northam, Devon EX39 1BB 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr & Mrs G Loft against the decision of Torridge District Council. 
• The application Ref 1/0267/2019/FUL, dated 26 March 2019, was refused by notice 

dated 20 May 2019. 
• The development proposed is the construction of a two storey side extension. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for a two storey side 

extension at 30 Highfield, Northam, Devon EX39 1BB in accordance with the 
terms of the application Ref 1/0267/2019/FUL, dated 26 March 2019, subject 

to the conditions below.  

Main issue 

2. The main issue is the effect of the proposal on local character and appearance.  

Reasons  

3. No 30 is an understated detached bungalow, mid-twentieth century in origin 
with subsequent alterations. Properties nearby tend to date from that era, to 

be of a similar typology, and to be set within comparably-proportioned plots at 

a relatively low density. No 30 occupies a corner plot of Highfield, which also 

encircles Nos 25 to 34. The topography declines from Bay View Road to the 
south, through Highfield towards the B3236 and coast beyond (broadly 

northwards).  

 
4. Properties accessed from, but to the north of, Highfield are significantly set 

down in the landform (including No 9 opposite). The level change is such that 

although the ridgeline of the proposed extension would be fractionally lower 
than that of the existing dwelling, the extension would comprise two storeys of 

internal accommodation.1 The area therefore has a broadly consistent layout 

and open feel. There are glimpsed views of the coastline, notwithstanding that 

gardens often feature well-established planting.   
 

5. In summary, and amongst other things, policies DM04 and DM25 of the North 

Devon and Torridge District Local Plan (adopted 29 October 2019, the ‘LP’) set 
out how development should be designed so as to integrate appropriately with 

its surroundings, including in relation to the form, scale and design of 

extensions. Those aims are shared with relevant provisions of the National 

                                       
1 Plan 1206/01 indicates a change in ground level across the plot of No 30 of slightly less than a metre, or so.   

Page 17

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/D/19/3233930 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Planning Policy Framework (‘NPPF’) and Planning Practice Guidance (‘PPG’),2 

albeit that there should be some room for due flexibility and innovation.  

 
6. The proposal is for a two storey side extension, in part building upon the 

footprint of a single storey extension but also projecting northwards beyond it. 

The scale, proportions, and materials proposed are intended to tie in with those 

features of No 30. The scheme would entail a modest dormer facing eastwards, 
rooflights facing westwards, and a Juliette balcony facing northwards. The 

proposal would inevitably add to the bulk of the property. It would also result 

in a rather intricate, asymmetric design that would be visible from various 
surrounding public and private vantage points.   

 

7. However the ridgeline proposed would be fractionally lower than that of the 
existing property, with the roof form and materials intended to match those at 

No 30. Moreover in respect of size and floorspace in both absolute and relative 

terms to the existing property, the proposal would be modest. The scheme 

would respect the building line of No 31 adjacent, thereby maintaining a 
reasonable degree of separation to the pavement. The ratio of the footprint of 

No 30, as extended, to its plot would not be noticeably out of keeping with the 

prevailing relationship in that respect. The visual prominence of the scheme 
would also be mitigated by the presence of a substantial evergreen hedge 

bounding the plot of No 30, which would likely be maintained for privacy and 

aesthetics.  

 
8. There are certain consistent characteristics to the built environment here. 

Nonetheless there are significant variations between properties, both originally 

and as altered. From certain vantage points No 30 is visible in conjunction with 
semi-detached properties, terraced properties, and there are also more recent 

additions to the street scene (some of which incorporate balconies).3 Whilst 

bungalows predominate there are also chalet-bungalows, two-storey and three-
storey properties nearby.4 A significant number of houses have also been 

altered or extended in varying ways over time resulting in a lively architectural 

variety rather than uniformity.5 As an aside, I also note that the area is not 

formally protected on account of its architectural character, nor are mid-
twentieth century properties of similar design a rarity.  

 

9. For the above reasons, given the various factors that would limit the effect of 
the proposal in relation to the existing property and immediate neighbours, and 

given the mixed context to the appeal site, in my view the proposal would 

integrate appropriately with its surroundings in accordance with the relevant 
provisions of LP policies DM04 and DM25 and of NPPF paragraphs 127 and 130. 

Other matters 

10. I have taken account of all the representations made in respect of the scheme, 

including by the occupants of Nos 28 and 29 Highfield.6 I acknowledge that the 
development proposed would result in some change, and that minor alterations 

may be perceived as significant. I have set out above how the proposal would 

                                       
2 Including at paragraphs 127 and 130 of the former and Reference ID: 26-007-20140306 of the latter.  
3 Nos 3, 4, 6 and 6a Highfield, Nos 30 to 48 Bay View Road (albeit at some distance), Nos 40 to 47 respectively.  
4 Variously Nos 2, 7, 8, 41, 44, 45 and 47.  
5 Including readily-apparent side or front extensions to Nos 1, 21 and 25 and front-facing dormer windows of 
comparable scale and design at the property named Arden.   
6 The latter advanced at appeal. 

Page 18

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/D/19/3233930 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

add to the bulk of the property. Construction would also entail some noise, 

vehicle movements and potential for disturbance. 

 
11. However, to some extent following my reasoning above, the development 

proposed would not be incongruous. The extension would be a relatively 

modest addition, in part building upon a ground floor extension, projecting 

principally northwards (rather than towards other neighbouring properties). 
The spacing between properties and topography is such that the proposal 

would have a very limited effect on outlook; I noted that in terms of expansive 

coastal views, the roof of No 9 Highfield is already a visual impediment when 
looking northwards from the pavement by Nos 28 and 29.  

 

12. Given the location of the extension, the relatively low-density nature of the 
area, and the sun’s path through the sky, the scheme would have very little, if 

any, effect on the level of natural light or sunlight reaching surrounding 

properties or their plots. The rooflights facing westwards would be angled 

within the pitch of the roof, face towards a roof slope of No 31 without 
openings, and are intended to serve a staircase rather than habitable room. 

Otherwise the new windows and Juliette balcony proposed would face towards 

the boundaries of the property such that there would be an appropriate degree 
of separation (in absolute terms and visually by virtue of intervening features).   

 

13. Any implications of construction would be temporary. Provision exists 

elsewhere, whether formally or informally, to address unacceptable disruption 
were that to arise.7 Whether or not planning permission is capable of being 

implemented with regard to the provisions of any applicable covenants is a 

separate private legal matter, whereas planning focusses on the public interest. 
Any effects resulting from the proposal to the living conditions of those nearby 

would therefore not be unacceptable. Although arrived at independently, the 

effect of the scheme on the living conditions of those nearby is not part of the 
Council’s case at appeal. No other matters are therefore of such significance so 

as to alter my finding regarding the acceptability of the proposal.   

Conclusion  

14. For the above reasons, having considered the development plan as a whole, 

the approach in the NPPF and all other relevant material considerations, I 

conclude that the appeal should be allowed subject to the conditions below.  

Conditions 

15. In addition to the requirement that development be commenced within the 

relevant statutory period, I have imposed conditions requiring that the 

associated plans are complied with and that the materials to be used match 
those of the existing building. Those conditions are necessary to ensure that 

the development is undertaken as assessed above, and by consequence 

integrates appropriately with its surroundings.  

Thomas Bristow 
INSPECTOR 

 

                                       
7 Including via the provisions of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 as amended.  

Page 19

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/D/19/3233930 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

SCHEDULE OF CONDITIONS 

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three years 

from the date of this decision.  

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

approved plans 1206/02A and 1206/03A and the block plan entitled 

‘MapView’.  

3) The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 

development hereby permitted shall match those used in the existing 
building.  

 

 

Page 20

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 2 September 2019 

by Jessica Graham  BA(Hons) PgDipL 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 11 September 2019  

 

Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/X/18/3212851 

Rosie’s Barn, Woolsery, Bideford, Devon EX39 5RE 

• The appeal is made under section 195 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991 against a refusal to grant a 
certificate of lawful use or development (LDC). 

• The appeal is made by Mr George Carlin against the decision of Torridge District 
Council. 

• The application Ref 1/0100/2018/CPE, dated 25 January 2018, was refused by notice 
dated 6 April 2018. 

• The application was made under section 191(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 as amended. 

• The use for which a certificate of lawful use or development is sought is use as a 

residential dwelling without restriction to holiday accommodation, in accordance with 
planning permission 1/1830/2000/62/0002.   

Summary of Decision: The appeal is dismissed 
 

 

Background 

1. Rosie’s Barn is the smaller of two former agricultural barns, previously within 
the same ownership, for which planning permission for residential conversion 

was granted in 1997 (“the Original Permission”).1 At that time, and at other 

times during the rather complex planning history which I shall set out below, 

the barns were known by different names; in the interests of clarity, 
throughout this decision I shall refer to the barn that is the subject of this 

appeal as “Rosie’s Barn” and the other barn as “Higher Barn”. 

2. The Original Permission for the conversion of the two barns was granted 

subject to five conditions. The first of these required the development to be 

carried out in complete accordance with the approved plans, and it is common 
ground that the relevant approved plan is drg no. 971568/1a. The fourth 

condition specified that Rosie’s Barn shall only be used for holiday 

accommodation serving Higher Barn, and for no other purpose.       

3. A few years later, an application was made to vary the terms of the Original 

Permission, so as to exchange the roles of the two buildings. Planning 
Permission was granted in 2000 (“The First Variation”)2, subject to a number of 

conditions. The relevant condition for present purposes is condition 4, which 

specifies that Higher Barn shall only be used for holiday accommodation 
serving Rosie’s Barn, and for no other purpose. The plans approved by this 

First Variation were the same as those approved by the Original Permission.  

                                       
1 Ref 1/0883/97/62/0002 
2 Ref 1/1830/2000/62/0002 

Page 21

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W114500000/X/18/3212851 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

4. The following year, a revised drawing (drg no. 971568/3) was submitted to the 

Council by the developer’s agent, with an accompanying letter (dated 19 July 

2001) detailing proposed amendments to the First Variation. The Council 
approved these amendments by letter dated 15 August 2001. 

5. In 2013 planning permission was granted for Variation of condition 4 of 

planning permission 1/0883/1997 – amended description (“The Second 

Variation”)3, subject to a number of conditions. The relevant condition for 

present purposes is condition 4, which specifies that the premises (identified as 
Rosie’s Barn) shall be used for short term holiday accommodation and for no 

other purpose. 

6. In the interests of clarity it is worth noting here that while the development 

permitted by both the First Variation and Second Variation is described in the 

terms of “variation of condition X of planning permission reference Y…”, in each 
case the permission granted is not simply an amendment to an earlier grant of 

planning permission, but a stand-alone grant of planning permission in its own 

right.   

7. In May 2016 the Council issued a LDC (“the Existing LDC”)4 certifying that on 

14 March 2016, compliance with Condition 1 of the Original Permission, being 

the occupation of Higher Barn for full residential purposes and Rosie’s Barn for 
holiday accommodation, was lawful.    

8. In January 2018 the Appellant applied for a LDC to certify that Rosie’s Barn 

may be used for full residential purposes, without restriction to holiday 

accommodation. The Council’s refusal to issue the requested LDC is the subject 

of the current appeal.            

Main Issue 

9. The Appellant’s case is that the use of Rosie’s Barn as an unrestricted dwelling 

is lawful, because it complies with an extant grant of planning permission (the 
First Variation). The Council’s case is that the conversion of the two barns was 

carried out in accordance with the Original Permission rather than the First 

Variation, and that the First Variation was never implemented, such that there 
is no existing planning permission for the unrestricted residential use of Rosie’s 

Barn.  

10. The main issue in this appeal, then, is whether or not extant planning 

permission exists for the use of Rosie’s Barn as a residential dwelling without 

restriction to holiday accommodation.    

11. The Appellant has raised a number of concerns about the evidence and 

procedure which informed the Council’s decision to issue the Existing LDC for 
Higher Barn. It is not open to me, in the context of this appeal, to re-visit that 

decision - s.191(6) of the 1990 Act states that the lawfulness of the matters 

certified by a LDC is to be conclusively presumed. However, it is worth noting 
that the existence of that LDC does not automatically rule out the success of 

the current appeal: the test is whether, on the balance of probabilities, the 

Appellant (on whom the burden of proof lies) can demonstrate that on the date 

he applied for a LDC, the unrestricted residential use of Rosie’s Barn was 
lawful.     

                                       
3 Ref 1/0111/2013/FUL dated 3 April 2013 
4 Ref 1/0264/216/CPE dated 12 May 2016 

Page 22

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W114500000/X/18/3212851 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

Analysis 

12. There are three grants of planning permission to consider here: the Original 

Permission, the First Variation, and the Second Variation.  

13. The Original Permission did not restrict the residential use of Higher Barn but 

specified that Rosie’s Barn should only be used for holiday accommodation 

“serving” it, whereas the First Variation reversed the roles of the two buildings 

and did not restrict the residential use of Rosie’s Barn, but specified that Higher 
Barn should only be used for subsidiary holiday accommodation “serving” it.  

14. In assessing which of these permissions was in fact implemented, it is helpful 

to compare what is detailed in the relevant approved plans with what has 

actually been built. The relevant approved plan for the Original Permission is 

drg no. 971568/1a. This was also the plan approved by the First Variation, but 
the Council subsequently approved a revised plan showing amendments to the 

First Variation (drg no. 971568/3). If the finished appearance of the 

development accords more closely with the revised plan than the original plan, 
that would suggest that it was the First Variation, rather than the Original 

Permission, which was implemented.    

15. At my site visit I saw that the external appearance of Rosie’s Barn does not in 

fact align directly with either the original or revised plan. There are features 

which accord more closely with the original plan (for example, the east 
elevation does not contain either the additional door or the stainless steel 

chimney detailed as amendments in the revised plan) and features which 

accord more closely with the revised plan (for example, the north gable end 

contains a first-floor window as shown in the revised, but not the original, 
plan). There are also features which are not detailed in either plan: for 

example, the doorway in the east elevation does not match that shown in the 

original or the revised plan. Neither does the window to the right of it, nor the 
window above these two openings.5 

16. In my judgment, the outcome of this comparison exercise is inconclusive. I am 

not satisfied that the development carried out accords sufficiently closely with 

the details shown on either the original or the revised plan for me to conclude, 

with any degree of confidence, that it must have been built in accordance with 
one rather than the other. Put another way, there is insufficient clarity to 

demonstrate that, on the balance of probabilities, the permitted conversion was 

carried out in accordance with the details shown on the revised plan rather 
than those on the original plan.        

17. The third grant of planning permission – here called the Second Variation – was 

granted in 2013, more than a decade after the first two. Some background is 

set out in a letter dated 11 March 2016, written by the agent who acted for the 

owners of Rosie’s Barn at that time, and submitted by the Appellant. The letter 
states that having purchased both barns in 2002 and converted them, the 

then-owners lived in Higher Barn and let out Rosie’s Barn as holiday 

accommodation. Their understanding was that this was in accordance with the 

Original Permission, and that the First Variation was never implemented. That 
is borne out in the terms of the application they submitted, when they came to 

                                       
5 I note that the current internal layout differs from that shown in the original plan. However, that does not assist 

for present purposes because internal alterations do not constitute development, and so can be carried out at any 
time without the need for planning permission. The revisions to the original plan approved by the Council’s letter 

dated 15 August 2001 are, rightly, confined to the proposed external alterations.    

Page 23

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W114500000/X/18/3212851 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

sell Rosie’s Barn in 2013, to sever its functional link to Higher Barn: the 

proposal is described as the variation of condition 4 of planning permission 

1/0883/1997 (that is, the Original Permission).  

18. It is important to note that the Second Variation applies specifically to Rosie’s 

Barn, and not to Higher Barn. As noted above it does not effect a variation to 
the Original Permission, but rather is a separate grant of planning permission in 

its own right. Condition 4 of this later permission does not (as did condition 4 

of the Original Permission) restrict the use of Rosie’s Barn to holiday 
accommodation serving Higher Barn, but it does specify that “the premises 

shall be used for short term holiday accommodation and for no other purpose.”      

19. There is no dispute that Rosie’s Barn has subsequently been used to provide 

short term holiday accommodation that does not “serve” Higher Barn, such 

that the Second Variation has been implemented.      

20. Turning to other available evidence, the letter dated 11 March 2016 that was 

written by the agent acting for former owners of Rosie’s Barn (referred to 
above) refers to records of Council Tax paid in respect of Higher Barn, and 

Business Rates in respect of Rosie’s Barn. The Council has confirmed that 

Rosie’s Barn was registered for Business Rates from 1 September 2004 to 29 

January 2011, and the Appellant has confirmed that since he purchased it in 
2013, Rosie’s Barn has been used exclusively for holiday rental use.  

21. The undisputed evidence of the Appellant is that at the date of his purchase, 

Rosie’s Barn was registered for Council Tax, having most recently been used as 

a residential dwelling, and he regards this as endorsement by the Council that 

full residential use was allowable. The Council accepts that Rosie’s Barn may 
have been occupied during this period on a residential basis, but maintains that 

any such use was unlawful. Crucially, there is no evidence to suggest that any 

use of Rosie’s Barn as a dwelling rather than as holiday accommodation 
subsisted for such a period of time as to become immune from enforcement 

action.6   

Conclusion 

22. In summary, then, for the purposes of establishing whether Rosie’s Barn was 

converted in accordance with the Original Permission or the First Variation, a 

comparison of the existing building with the details shown in the original and 

revised plans is inconclusive. However, the letter written by the agent acting 
for the owners who carried out the conversion sets out their understanding that 

it was done in accordance with the Original Permission, and that the First 

Variation was never implemented. This version of events is not contradicted by 
any other available evidence, and is supported by the fact that the Second 

Variation specifically seeks to vary a condition imposed by the Original 

Permission, rather than the reversed form of that condition imposed by the 
First Variation.    

23. Taking all of this into account, I consider that the evidence currently before me 

indicates that on the balance of probabilities the Original Permission and 

Second Variation have been implemented, whereas the First Variation has not. 

This means that there are two extant planning permissions concerning Rosie’s 
Barn, both of which restrict its use to holiday accommodation.   

                                       
6 In accordance with the time limits set out at s.171B of the 1990 Act. 

Page 24

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W114500000/X/18/3212851 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

24. For these reasons I conclude that the Council’s refusal to grant a certificate of 

lawful use or development in respect of use of Rosie’s Barn as a residential 

dwelling without restriction to holiday accommodation, in accordance with 
planning permission 1/1830/2000/62/0002, was well-founded and that the 

appeal should fail. I will exercise accordingly the powers transferred to me in 

section 195(3) of the 1990 Act as amended.   

Formal Decision 

25. The appeal is dismissed. 

 

Jessica Graham 

INSPECTOR 

Page 25

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 10 September 2019  

by Mr C J Tivey BSc (Hons) BPl MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 17th September 2019 

 

Appeal Ref:  APP/W1145/W/19/3220910 

The Stone Barn, Lane Past Old South Beer Farm, Clawton EX22 6PF 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant planning permission under section 73 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 for the development of land without complying with 

conditions subject to which a previous planning permission was granted. 
• The appeal is made by Mr R & Mrs E Green against the decision of Torridge District 

Council. 
• The application Ref 1/0727/2018/FUL, dated 12 July 2018, was refused by notice dated 

12 September 2018. 
• The application sought planning permission for the conversion of farm buildings for 

holiday use – amendment to existing permission and solar panels without complying 
with a condition attached to planning permission Ref 1/1799/2006/FUL, dated 4 October 
2006. 

• The condition in dispute is No 2 which states that: “The premises shall be used for 
holiday accommodation only and for no other purpose (including any purpose in Class 
C3 of the Schedule to The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 2005, or in 
any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument for revoking or re-
enacting that Order).” 

• The reason given for the condition is: “Other residential use would be contrary to Policy 
DVT2C of the Torridge District Local Plan.” 

 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Background and Main Issue 

2. The appeal site comprises a range of stone former agricultural buildings that 

were converted into a 5 bedroom holiday let within an area of open countryside 
to the south east of the village of Clawton around 2008, pursuant to planning 

permission Ref. 1/1799/2006/FUL.   

3. The barn conversion has been carried out to a high standard and has the ability 

to accommodate up to 12no guests, it has an ample curtilage and access to 

nature trails on neighbouring land within the ownership and control of the 

appellants.   

4. In 2016 an application (Ref. 1/0776/2016/FUL) for the variation of condition 2 
of planning permission Ref. 1/1799/2006/FUL to allow for residential domestic 

use was refused planning permission for two reasons, summarised thus:  

1. The location was deemed unsustainable for an unrestricted residential use; 

and 2.  The building was not considered to consist of historic or architectural 

Page 26

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/19/3220910 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

merit worthy of retention through a residential conversion, with no evidence 

being provided to demonstrate that the property had been marketed for an 

appropriate length of time for sale or rent, either as holiday accommodation or 
for an alternative business use. 

5. Therefore, in order to set about addressing these reasons for refusal, the 

appellants commissioned an independent report and valuation and subsequent 

marketing campaign from two reputable firms of Chartered Surveyors.  It is 

understood that the marketing campaign commenced on 8 February 2017 at an 
initial guide price of £325,000 for sale; which was subsequently reduced to 

£310,000 in January 2018.  It is not clear though from the submissions before 

me as to whether this marketing activity is ongoing.   

6. Since that previous decision was made, and indeed the decision on the 

planning application the subject of this appeal, the Torridge District Local Plan 
has been superseded by the adoption of the North Devon and Torridge Local 

Plan 2011 – 2031 (NDTLP) in October 2018.   

7. Policy DM18 of the NDTLP is concerned with tourism accommodation and 

specifically paragraph (3), as set out therein, states that applications for the 

removal of occupancy conditions on holiday accommodation will only be 

permitted where:  (a) It is capable of being occupied permanently without need 
for major extension or alteration; and (b) There is compelling evidence to 

demonstrate that such a restriction is no longer justified.  The Council have 

acknowledged that the subject building is capable of being occupied 
permanently without the need for alterations, but the crux of this case is that 

the submitted evidence does not demonstrate a lack of demand for the holiday 

let. 

8. Therefore the main issue is whether condition no2 imposed upon 

1/11799/2006/FUL is necessary to meet the tourism needs of north Devon’s 
rural area.   

Main Issue 

9. The National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘Framework’) seeks to support a 
prosperous rural economy with its paragraph 83, stipulating that decisions 

should enable sustainable rural tourism and leisure development which respect 

the character of the countryside.  This general tenet is supported by the 

aforementioned NDTLP Policy DM18, which stipulates that tourism and leisure 
attractions form an important part of northern Devon’s economy and tourism 

offer. Where concerning tourism accommodation, NDTLP paragraph 13.107 

highlights that although there has been a decline in bed space capacity in some 
resort areas, a continuing long-term trend for growth in short breaks and 

special interest activity holidays has helped to stabilise the sector, and place a 

strong emphasis on improving the overall quality of accommodation, including 
barn conversions. 

10. Critically NDTLP paragraph 13.109 states that proposals for the removal of 

holiday occupancy restrictions will only be supported when it can be 

demonstrated that the accommodation is no longer required to meet the 

tourism needs of the locality.  It goes on to state that the local planning 
authority will require applications for the removal of occupancy conditions to 

demonstrate there is no demand for the property in the locality. Marketing will 

be considered to be appropriate when the property has been presented to the 

Page 27

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/19/3220910 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

market at a reasonable price, with appropriate conditions identified and for a 

period of at least 12 months prior to the application’s submission. 

11. At the request of the Council, the appellants submitted a set of accounts for the 

years ending April 2017 and 2018 which provide an income and expenditure 

account for The Stone Barn.  Income from customers was very consistent for 
both of these financial years and quite clearly the premises have been in 

reasonable demand by visitors to the area.  I note that net profit for both years 

was very modest, and as highlighted within the appellant’s submissions, the 
enterprise has effectively been propped up by RPA payments. However, whilst 

a breakdown of outgoing costs to The Stone Barn holiday business has been 

provided, some of the items of expenditure appear to be on the high side, 

particularly those appertaining to the nature trails.   

12. Whilst I acknowledge that the nature trails may be a unique selling point for 
the holiday let business, I am not convinced that they are the sole reason why 

individuals would book barn for their holiday accommodation. It’s also not clear 

whether access to these trails would continue in the event that the appellants 

sold the barn. In addition, although I acknowledge the need to adhere to 
relevant Health & Safety legislation, a lot of works such as fencing repairs, 

hedge laying and woodland management would provide benefits to the wider 

farm holding within the ownership and control of the appellants. I therefore 
consider that these works lead to disproportionate running costs associated 

with letting of the barn itself, which clearly has a knock-on effect on 

profitability and therefore could deter future operators/purchasers of the 

holiday let as a going concern.   

13. Therefore, whilst I sympathise with the appellants who are reaching a time of 
their lives where they no longer wish to continue running the holiday let 

business, I am not convinced that all options have been explored, including 

ways of maximising profitability, in order to render it as a more attractive 

business to purchase by third parties.  I note that no one in the appellant’s 
family wishes to continue the work of running and managing the property as a 

holiday let business, but nonetheless that does not demonstrate that is the 

only option, the use of the services of a holiday letting agent could be one.  

14. Further, I must stress that planning permission goes with land and buildings, 

as opposed to ownership, and taking into account that the evidence before me 
demonstrates that there remains a viable business, I cannot agree with the 

reason set out within section 5 on the planning application form, that the barn 

is no longer needed to meet the tourism needs of the locality.   

15. Turning to the marketing campaign, the submitted report and valuation 

highlights that they were not fully aware of the details relating to the shared 
access and parking provision to the immediate front of the property and 

adjoining wildlife centre, and the existence of this building and its close 

proximity to the barn was considered a potential drawback with regard to 
privacy and marketing. No clarification has been provided on these matters, 

but I opine that they would leave a number of other uncertainties within the 

minds of prospective purchasers.  I note that the restrictive condition put off all 
bar one prospective purchaser of the barn, but that just demonstrates that 

they had no serious intention to purchase the subject building as a holiday let 

business.   

Page 28

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/19/3220910 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

16. I fully acknowledge that if the owners/operators no longer wish to or are 

unable to make the offer of the property as a holiday letting and do not 

advertise, then the demand would disappear for it.  However that does not 
mean that the tourism needs of the locality would decrease, only that 

prospective holiday makers would have to seek other accommodation.   

17. Therefore I consider, with respect, that it has been not been demonstrated by 

the appeal submissions that the accommodation is no longer required to meet 

the tourism needs of the locality.  Consequently, the proposal is in conflict with 
paragraph (3) (b) of NDTLP Policy DM18 in that the evidence submitted does 

not demonstrate that the occupancy restriction is no longer justified.   

Conclusion 

18. I therefore find that condition 2 of planning permission 1/1799/2006/FUL is 

necessary in maintain a supply of high quality tourism accommodation within 

north Devon. The proposal is contrary to NDTLP Policy DM18 and the 

Framework. 

19. Having regard to the above and all other matters raised by the appellants, I 

hereby dismiss the appeal.   

 

C J Tivey 

INSPECTOR 

Page 29

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
 

 

 
 
 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 10 September 2019 

by Mr C J Tivey BSc (Hons) BPl MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 17th September 2019 

 

Appeal Ref:  APP/W1145/W/19/3222236 

Land Opposite Bradford Primary School, Holemoor, Bradford, Holsworthy 

EX22 7AB 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Mark Shillabeer against the decision of Torridge District 
Council. 

• The application Ref 1/0672/2018/OUT, dated 2 July 2018, was refused by notice dated 
30 August 2018. 

• The development proposed is for a dwelling. 
 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Procedural Matter 

2. Since the decision was made by the Council, the North Devon and Torridge 

Local Plan 2011 – 2031 (NDTLP) was adopted in October 2018, therefore the 

Torridge District Local Plan policies referred to within the Council Officer’s 

delegated report have been superseded and replaced by those policies 
previously referred to in the decision notice as ‘emerging’, e.g. NDTLP Policies 

DM04 and ST07.   

3. Furthermore, given the recent adoption of the NDTLP, the Council states that a 

five year housing land supply can be fully demonstrated for Torridge District.  

The appellant does not dispute this and I have determined the appeal on this 
basis. 

Main Issues 

3. The main issues are the effect of the appeal proposal upon the character and 

appearance of the countryside; and whether the location of the site is 
sustainable, in respect of its accessibility. 

Reasons 

Character and Appearance 

4. The appeal site is situated down a narrow lane and comprises the north-western 

corner of a grass field. It is wholly agricultural in character, befitting of its rural 
location. Due north west of the site is the Bradford Primary School and the 

Page 30



Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/19/3222236 
 

 

 

2 

Bradford and Cookbury Village Hall, both of which are in a relatively isolated 

location, unrelated to any other significant operational development, and away 
from the villages that they serve. 

5. I note the appellant’s reference to the Braintree case of 20181 which focussed 

upon the application of what was then paragraph 55 of the National Planning 

Policy Framework (the ‘Framework’) (now Framework para 79). The judgement 

in that case was that the advice to avoid new isolated homes in the countryside 
simply differentiated between the development of housing within a settlement, 

or village, and new dwellings that would be ‘isolated’, in the sense of being 

separate or remote from a settlement.  Lord Justice Lindblom explained that 

whether a proposed new dwelling is, or is not isolated in this sense is a matter 
of fact and planning judgement for the decision maker, in the particular 

circumstances of the case in hand.   

6. Regarding the scheme before me, and notwithstanding the presence of the 

school and village hall, the location of the appeal site is also relatively isolated 

and whilst I have been made aware of the fact that the appellant operates a 
garage in the local area, pursuant to Framework paragraph 79. a), I have not 

been made aware that there is an essential need for him to reside in the 

location proposed. Consequently, rural policies of restraint must apply here. 

7. I note that the appellant would be happy for the proposed dwelling to be single 

storey and would use good quality materials to seek to blend it into the existing 
landscape.  However, whilst I acknowledge that the site is relatively well 

screened by existing hedging, some of this would need to be removed in order 

to provide access and highway visibility (therefrom and thereto), and combined 
with associated domestic paraphernalia, a dwelling in this location would 

amount to an alien feature contrary to the predominantly undeveloped nature of 

the open countryside. I note reference to the other appeals determined by my 

colleagues, however, ultimately each case must be assessed on its own merits.  
Furthermore, the tilted balance towards a presumption in favour of sustainable 

development no longer applies as the Council can demonstrate that it fulfils its 

five year housing land supply requirement.   

8. Overall on this issue, I consider that the proposal would give rise to an 

incongruous and adverse visual impact upon the character and appearance of 
the countryside. I find it contrary to NDTLP Policy ST07 which stipulates that in 

the countryside, beyond local centres, villages and rural settlements, 

developments will be limited to that which is enabled to meet local economic 
and social needs, rural building reuse and development which is restricted to a 

countryside location.  I also find that the proposal conflicts with NDTLP Policy 

DM04 which is concerned with design principles and seeks to ensure, amongst 
other things, that developments are appropriate and sympathetic to the setting, 

as well as reinforcing the key characteristics and special qualities of the area in 

which the development is proposed.   

 

 

1 Braintree District Council v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government and Ors 

[2018] EWCA Civ610 
 

Page 31



Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/19/3222236 
 

 

 

3 

Accessibility 

9. As I have found above, the location of the site is relatively isolated 

notwithstanding the presence of the primary school and village hall due north 

west.  I do however note that paragraph 3 of NDTLP Policy ST07 stipulates that 
in rural settlements which contain at least one prescribed service or community 

facility, appropriately located development of a modest scale will be enabled to 

meet locally generated needs.   

10. Notwithstanding this, NDTLP Policy DM24 is concerned with rural settlements 

and highlights that ‘qualifying settlements’ will be formed by an ‘obvious 
grouping’ of dwellings physically separate from urban areas or other defined 

settlements which meet the qualifying criteria set out in NDTLP Policy ST07.  As 

the appeal site does not form part of an obvious grouping of dwellings, I can 
only conclude that it does not fall within a ‘rural settlement’ and therefore it 

does not qualify as being located within such.  Consequently, I find the 

proposal falls foul of NDTLP Policy ST07 and its paragraph 4, as the site does 

not form part of a small closely grouped or contiguous built form of housing; 
and it has not been demonstrated that the dwelling would meet a locally 

identified housing need, therefore it would not amount to affordable housing 

pursuant to NDTLP para 13.133.   

11. Framework paragraph 78 highlights that to promote sustainable development 

in rural areas, housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain the 
vitality of rural communities.  It goes on to state that where there are groups 

of smaller settlements, development in one village may support services in a 

village nearby.  I have no reason to doubt that the occupation of the proposed 
dwelling would go some way in providing additional demand for local services 

and facilities which could be deemed a benefit to the local rural economy, along 

with the short term benefits of employment stemming from the construction 

process of the dwelling.   

12. I note that the site is served by a school bus, is in close proximity to a bus stop 
which serves the weekly 642 service to Bideford, is on a designated cycle 

network and is also served by Holsworthy Community Rural Transport (ring and 

ride service). However, in respect to the ring and ride bus services, I note that 

the timetable only runs from Monday to Friday and is zone based so does not 
serve the locality every day.  

13. Further, Shebbear and Holsworthy are 4 and 8 miles away from the appeal site 

and I therefore conclude that future occupants of the appeal dwelling would be 

heavily reliant upon the use of private motor vehicles to access the majority of 

community services and facilities, as well as employment. Consequently, the 
location of the site, in terms of its accessibility would not be sustainable.  I say 

this notwithstanding the fact that the traffic generated from a single dwelling 

on its own would be relatively limited, but nonetheless such a proposal would 
go some way in undermining the Council’s Spatial Development Strategy for 

Northern Devon’s Rural Area, contrary to NDTLP Policy ST07. 

Conclusion 

14. I acknowledge that there are a number of limited social and economic benefits 

associated with the proposal, but notwithstanding this, the scheme would give 

rise to the creation of a new residential unit of accommodation within a 

Page 32



Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/19/3222236 
 

 

 

4 

relatively isolated rural location that would be obtrusive within the open 

countryside and would be unsustainable in respect of its accessibility. 

15. All in all, the factors that fall in favour of the proposal do not outweigh the 

harm that I have found, and therefore having regard to the above and all other 
matters raised, I conclude that the appeal should be dismissed. 

 

C J Tivey 

INSPECTOR 

 

    

 

Page 33



 

AGMB DECISIONS 22nd August 2019 – 19th September 2019  
 

Application Number Address/Proposal Decision 

 
1/0247/2019/AGMB  
 

 
Barn At Elm Park 
Farm, Pancrasweek, 
EX22 7JS.  
 
 
Prior notification for 
the change of use of 
agricultural building to 
1no. dwellings under 
Class Q and 
associated operational 
development  
 

 
Permitted 

 

Page 34

Agenda Item 10



 
Committee Report – 3rd October 2019 

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/0629/2019/FUL 

Registration date: 5 August 2019 

Expiry date:  30 September 2019 

Applicant:  Mr & Mrs Lynd  

Agent:  Daniel Lobato 

Case Officer:  Kristian Evely 

Site Address:  Homemead,  
Diddywell Road,  
Northam, 
Bideford, 
Devon,   
EX39 1NW 

Proposal:  Renovations and extension to existing dwelling 

Recommendation: Grant 

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 11a



 

Reason for referral: 

 
This application was called into Plans Committee by Cllr Hames so that Members can consider 
whether the proposal would be in keeping with the character of the existing dwelling, and would harm 
the sense of place, contrary to policies DM04, ST04 and DM25 of the North Devon and Torridge Local 
Plan and the policies within the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
   

1/1928/1979 ALTERATIONS & 
EXTENSIONS TO 
HOMEMEAD, DIDDYWELL, 
NORTHAM 

PER 14.12.1979 

    

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site Description: 
The application site is within a countryside location, approximately 150 metres outside of the Northam 
and Westward Ho! settlement boundary which is to the west. The site is accessed from Diddywell 
Road which runs to the south of the proposal. The site slopes south to north, with the south being 
elevated. Although close to the settlement boundary, there is a rural feel to the site, with distance 
views over the countryside and Northam Burrows to the north.  
 
The property to which this application relates (Homemead) is a large, detached, Victorian dwelling. 
The property is sited in a generous plot, and the nearest neighbour is 'Diddywell Manor', 50 metres to 
the east. Homemead benefits from a detached garage, parking and turning area, large garden, and 
hedgerow boundary treatments.  
 
Proposed Development: 
This application proposes the erection of a two storey side extension, and alterations to the existing 
property.  
 
The two storey side extension would replace an existing section of the building, and would not extend 
any further to the west, albeit the floor area would be re-modelled. The eaves height would then be 
extended, and the hipped section of the western roof would be gabled with the ridge line becoming 
continuous. The walling on the northern elevation would also be re-adjusted. The extension would 
permit increased living accommodation on the second floor. In addition to the side extension, this 
proposal includes a lean-to on the southern elevation. The proposed lean-to would measure 15.5 
metres x 2.5 metres, and includes a covered terrace, covered porch, and rear lobby. 
 
Three bay windows will be removed on the northern elevation, and an entrance projection on the 
southern elevation will be removed. In addition, chimneys are proposed to be removed. New windows 
will be more modern in nature, and on the north west corner is a full-height wrap-around window.  
 
The materials will be similar to the existing materials on site, which include rendered walling, natural 
slate roof, timber cladding, grey uPVC fenestration, and galvanised rainwater goods. 
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Northam Parish/Town Council:  
It was resolved to recommend that this application be refused. The design is out of keeping and is not 
sympathetic to the characteristics of the surroundings. It also does not improve quality of design and 
is therefore contrary to NPPF Paragraph 27 and Local Plan policies DM04 and ST04. 
 

Page 36



Conservation Officer:  
The proposal is sited at the foot of the slope between Northam and the start of the Burrows. The 
house appears to be a Victorian construction which is sited in a relatively visible location to take 
advantage of views across the Burrows and out to sea. The house and building were in place in the 
1880's and shown on the map as Hillpark Villa. 
   
The form of the dwelling appears as a Victorian structure which is similar to the style predominant in 
the resort of Westward Ho! but the dwelling has been altered over time with an complex roof scape. 
 
The current proposal will be the latest alteration to enable the house to meet current living patterns. 
   
The dwelling is close to the grade II* property known as Diddywell Manor but this property is an early 
era when houses were designed for concealment and defence and as such The Manor is set in its 
own grounds and the property at Homemead does not currently impact on the setting of this building. 
The proposal does not alter the form of the building to the extent that the proposal would have any 
further visual impact on the setting of the listed complex at The Manor and as such the proposal is 
considered acceptable in terms of the guidance as set out in  paragraph 196 of the NPPF. 
  
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  3  Number of letters of support:  2 
Number of representations received:  2 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  0  

 
3rd Party objections are summarised below: 
- The proposal would affect the setting of Diddywell Manor, which is a grade II listed building. 
- The proposal will harm the character and appearance of the area. 
- The proposal is harmful to the original design/character of the dwelling which is Victorian in style. 
  
3rd Party support letters are summarised as follows: 
-  The proposal will have no material impact on the neighbours. 
- The existing property is of no architectural consequence, as it consists of an original cottage which 
was unsympathetically re-modelled in the mid-1960s and 1980s. Further extensions took place in the 
1990s, which has resulted in a unattractive unsustainable property. 
- The proposal will enhance the property and surrounding area. 
 

Policy Context: 

 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
 
ST01 (Principles of Sustainable Development); ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); ST07 
(Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Rural Area); ST14 (Enhancing Environmental 
Assets); ST15 (Conserving Heritage Assets); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM04 (Design 
Principles); DM05 (Highways); DM06 (Parking Provision); DM07 (Historic Environment); DM08 
(Biodiversity and Geodiversity); DM08A (Landscape and Seascape Character); DM25 (Residential 
Extensions and Ancillary Development);  
 
Government Guidance: 
 
NERC (Natural Environment & Rural Communities); NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); 
NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



Planning Considerations 

 
The main planning considerations are: 
 
1. Principle of development 
2. Design, character and appearance 
3. Neighbouring Amenity 
4. Parking 
5. Ecology 
6. Heritage 
 
1. Principle: 
In planning policy terms the site is within the Countryside, and therefore Policy ST07 of the North 
Devon and Torridge Local Plan (NTDLP) must be applied which permits residential 
extensions/alterations, providing proposals are of a nature and scale which are appropriate. In this 
instance, the proposal is for alterations and a side extension and is acceptable in principle.   
 
2. Character and Appearance: 
Policy DM25 of the NDTLP relates to residential extensions and ancillary development, and requires 
householder development to be appropriate in terms of scale, design and location. In addition, Policy 
ST04 of the NDTLP encourages improved design quality, and notes: development will achieve high 
quality inclusive and sustainable design to support the creation of successful, vibrant places. Designs 
will be based on a clear process that analyses and responds to the characteristics of the site, its wider 
context and the surrounding area taking full account of the principles of design found in Policy DM04.  
 
Policy DM04 details 14 design principles which should be taken into consideration within any new 
development. The crux of DM04 requires new developments to be of high quality design, including 
being well related to their surroundings, be of an appropriate scale, include quality materials, and to 
be sympathetic to the character and appearance of the local area.  
 
The recent changes to the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) (NPPF) put an increased 
emphasis on achieving well designed places. Paragraph 124 notes "The creation of high quality 
buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve. 
Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and 
work, and helps make development acceptable to communities". Paragraph 127 proceeds to identify 
that decision makers should ensure developments are visually attractive, sympathetic to local 
character and history, maintain a strong sense of place, and create places which are safe, inclusive 
and accessible. Paragraph 130 recognises that "permission should be refused for development of 
poor design, which fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of 
an area…." 
 
3rd party representations are conflicted on this proposal, with one neighbouring dwelling advising this 
scheme will cause harm to the character of the existing dwelling and surrounding area, and two letters 
of support advising the scheme would be acceptable.  
 
The existing dwelling is Victorian in design and appearance. 3rd party representations note that the 
dwelling was once a cottage which has been remodelled over the years, but there is no evidence to 
support this claim. There are newer additions which have been added to this proposal, including flat 
roof extensions and a balcony. 
 
In terms of scale, the footprint of the proposal is similar to the existing dwelling; however, the overall 
massing of the building will be increased. This increase is not considered to be significant, bearing in 
mind the size of the existing dwelling when compared to the size of the extension. Thus, in terms of 
scale and massing, the proposal is acceptable.     
 
3rd party representations note that this scheme will re-model the existing property. This is considered 
to be accurate, and the proposed changes will undoubtedly change the character of the existing 

Page 38



dwelling to create a more modern looking building. The nearest dwelling to this proposal is 'Diddywell 
Manor' which is a traditional building constructed from a slate roof, timber sash windows, and painted 
render walling. The second closest dwelling is 'Quarry' (to the south), which is a modern building with 
large glazed elements and sections of timber cladding. Other developments along Diddywell Road 
include properties within Diddywell Close, which are predominantly modern dormer bungalows 
constructed from a mixture of materials, and more traditional stone built houses are also present 
along the highway. It can be concluded that there is no set house type, style or vernacular in this 
area. Based on the mixed character of the area, it is considered that the proposed alterations to this 
dwelling are acceptable in terms of the impact on the surrounding character.  
 
The form of the original dwelling will be similar, but the character of the residence will be altered. The 
loss of the Victorian character of the original dwelling is not considered to be a reason for refusal 
which could be upheld, based on the limited harm the proposal causes to the surrounding area. In 
support of this, the Government are increasingly supportive of substantial residential extensions which 
allow residents to remain in their dwellings, which is evidenced by recent changes to the General 
Permitted Development Order (GPDO) which permit large home extensions without the need to apply 
for planning permission. Taking permitted development into consideration, a significant amount of the 
proposed work could be carried out without the need for planning, including the replacement of 
windows, removal of dormers, removal of chimneys, and the removal of the porch. This supports this 
application, as the appearance of the dwelling could already be significantly altered. 
 
This proposal also includes a garage. The garage will replace an existing garage, and may be visible 
from the highway to the north and south, however, it is not deemed to result in significant harm to the 
character and appearance of the area. 
 
Policies ST09, ST14 and DM08A relate to the proposals landscape impact. This proposal will be 
visible from Northam Burrows and the AONB, however, it is not considered to result in any harm over 
and above that caused by the existing dwelling. 
 
In conclusion, this proposal will alter the appearance of the existing dwelling, however, the alterations 
are not deemed to cause landscape harm, and the design would not be out of character with the 
surrounding area. The proposal is thus considered in compliance with ST04, DM04 and DM25 of the 
NDTLP.  
 
3. Neighbouring Amenity: 
Policy DM01 of the NDTLP requires development to maintain amenity appropriate to the locality and 
not to result in a significant loss of amenity for the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings.  
 
This proposal is a significant distance from any neighbouring dwelling (55 metres), and as such there 
are no overbearing impacts, shadowing, or privacy concerns which arise from this proposal. Policy 
DM01 is deemed to be satisfied.  
 
4. Parking: 
Paragraph 109 of the NPPF advises that development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highways safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.  
 
Policy DM05 of the NDTLP relates to highways, and notes: 
 
(1) All development must ensure safe and designed vehicular access and egress, adequate parking 
and layouts which consider the needs and accessibility of all highways users including cyclists and 
pedestrians. 
(2) All development shall protect and enhance existing public rights of way, footpaths, cycle ways and 
bridleways and facilitate improvements to existing or provide new connections to these routes where 
practical to do so. 
 
In addition, policy DM06 of the NDTLP relates to parking provision, and notes that developments will 
be expected to provide adequate parking depending on the needs of the scheme.  

Page 39



 
A sufficient amount of parking would be retained and the use of the existing access is acceptable. The 
proposal is deemed in accordance with DM05 and DM06 of the NDTLP.   
 
5. Ecology:  
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010). This is further 
reinforced within the NDTLP through policies ST14 and DM08, which require development to maintain 
or where possible enhance biodiversity and militate against the potential loss of habitats.  
 
A wildlife survey was submitted with this application, produced by Orbis Ecology and dated 
09/07/2019. The survey indicates that the works may impact on nesting birds and roosting bats, 
however, this can be mitigated with bat boxes and the commencement of works outside of bird 
nesting season (1st Marsh to 31st August). Subject to the conditioning of mitigation, it is considered 
that the scheme complies with the statutory duties resulting from the above acts. 
 
6. Heritage: 
Policies ST15 and DM07 of the NDTLP, and Part 16 of the NPPF requires that great weight is given 
to the conservation of heritage assets, with any harm caused to the heritage asset or its setting to be 
outweighed by the public benefits of the proposal. This is reinforced by Section 66 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, which require the Local Planning Authority to 
have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building/s, its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  
 
3rd party representations note that this proposal will cause harm to the setting Diddywell Manor 
(grade II* listed), which is situated 55 metres to the east of the building. The case officer consulted 
with Torridge District Council's Conservation Officer on this scheme, who notes: 
 
"The proposal is sited at the foot of the slope between Northam and the start of the Burrows. The 
house appears to be a Victorian construction which is sited in a relatively visible location to take 
advantage of views across the Burrows and out to sea. The house and building were in place in the 
1880's and shown on the map as Hillpark Villa. 
   
The form of the dwelling appears as a Victorian structure which is similar to the style predominant in 
the resort of Westward Ho! but the dwelling has been altered over time with an complex roof scape. 
 
The current proposal will be the latest alteration to enable the house to meet current living patterns. 
   
The dwelling is close the grade II* property known as Diddywell Manor but this property is an early era 
when houses were designed for concealment and defence and as such The Manor is set in its own 
grounds and the property at Homemead does not currently impact on the setting of this building. The 
proposal does not alter the form of the building to the extent that the proposal would have any further 
visual impact on the setting of the listed complex at The Manor and as such the proposal is 
considered acceptable in terms of the guidance as set out in  paragraph 196 of the NPPF." 
 
Taking the conservation officers comments into consideration, this proposal is not considered to harm 
the setting of the nearby Diddywell Manor. In addition, the case officer does not consider Homemead 
to be a heritage asset in its own right.  
 
7. Conclusion: 
This proposal is not considered to result in any heritage, ecological (subject to condition), highways or 
neighbouring amenity issues. The design would result in the existing dwellings character and 
appearance being altered, however, the proposed design would not be out of character with the 
surrounding area and would cause limited harm. Therefore approval is recommended. 
 
 

Page 40



Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Conclusion 

 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT subject to the following conditions 
 
 1         The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than the expiration 

of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
             
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time requirements of 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
                                                                              
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
 3         The development shall be carried out in accordance with the recommendations set out within 

the submitted Ecological Appraisal, dated 09/07/2019 and produced by Orbis Ecology. 
Mitigation includes the provision of 4 bat boxes, and the restriction of works commencing in 
the bird nesting season.  

            
           Reason: To ensure a ecological net gain in accordance with Policy DM08 of the NDTLP. 
 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

197 001 C  26.07.2019 
   

197 010 G  10.07.2019 
   

197 011 J  10.07.2019 
   

197 012 E  10.07.2019 
   

197 020 I  10.07.2019 
   

197 021 J  10.07.2019 
   

197 013  26.07.2019 
              

  

Statement of Engagement 

 
In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in dealing with 
this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following positive and proactive 
manner. In this instance there was no need for further engagement as the development as submitted 
is considered to accord with the development plan.  In such ways the Council has demonstrated a 
positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to problems arising in relation to the planning 
application. 
 

Page 41



 
Committee Report – 3rd October 2019 

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/0478/2019/FUL 

Registration date: 3 June 2019 

Expiry date:  29 July 2019 

Applicant:  Mrs S Edwards  

Agent:  Tree Tops Planning 

Case Officer:  Sarah Boyle 

Site Address:  Land Adjacent To 5 Victoria Terrace,  
Bideford,  
Devon, 
EX39 2DP 
 
 

Proposal:  Erection of two storey dwelling 

Recommendation: Refuse 

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 42

Agenda Item 11b



 

Reason for referral: 

 
Part of the application site is located on Torridge District Council land and so automatically is referred 
to a Plans Committee. 
 
Councillor Christie has also called the application in if Officers were minded to approve, stating the 
following reasons: 
 
'Am concerned at possible over development of a small site, possible overlooking and loss of amenity 
land to 5 Victoria Terrace and impact on heritage housing in Terrace itself.' 
 

Relevant History: 

 

Application No. Description Status Closed 
   

1/1783/1995 DEMOLITION OF REAR 
KITCHEN AND FIRST 
FLOOR TOILET, INTERNAL 
WORKS AND ERECTION 
OF NEW KITCHEN, UTILITY 
ROOM AND DORMER ON 
FRONT ROOF 

PER 20.12.1995 

   

1/1875/1995 DEMOLITION OF REAR 
KITCHEN AND FIRST 
FLOOR TOILET, INTERNAL 
WORKS AND ERECTION 
OF NEW KITCHEN, UTILTIY 
ROOM AND DORMER ON 
FRONT ROOF 

PER 20.12.1995 

   

1/0997/1999 REMOVAL OF 5.5 METRE 
LENGTH OF STONE AND 
BLOCK BOUNDARY WALL 
AND CREATION OF 2.0 
METRE HIGH CLOSE 
BOARDED FENCE 

PER 19.08.1999 

   

 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site Description 
The application site is located within the development boundary of Bideford, which is designated as a 
Strategic Centre under policy ST07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (NDTLP). The plot is 
utilised as domestic garden for 5 Victoria Terrace but is currently overgrown, it is encompassed by a 
retaining wall and there is no vehicular access to the site; the pedestrian access is to the north east of 
the site. The site is also located within the Conservation Area and Critical Drainage Area of Bideford 
and is within 50 metres of a listed building (Victoria Terrace and Market Place). To the north of the 
site is a public car park and steps from the higher level of the car park, to the east is a licensed 
premises and residential properties, to the south is the gardens of Victoria Terrace and to the west is 
an alleyway at a higher level and residential properties beyond.  
 
Proposed Development 
The application seeks planning permission for a two storey detached dwelling, comprising of a 
separate kitchen, living room, dining room and wc on the ground floor and then two double bedrooms 
and bathroom on the first floor.  The house measures 7.1 metres by 5.0 metres in footprint with an 
overall ridge height of 7.4 metres. The amenity space will be to the north/west of the dwelling.  

Page 43



 
The materials to be used in the construction of the dwelling are blockwork and painted render for the 
elevations with natural slate for the roof. The windows and doors will be painted timber and the 
guttering will be metal. The boundary treatments will consist of natural stone walls. As aforementioned 
there is no vehicular access or parking proposed with the development and the pedestrian access for 
the property will be to the north east of the site.   
 
It is detailed on the application form that the site will dispose of surface water and foul drainage 
through the main sewers in the area. There will also be an allocation for refuse storage outside the 
property to the south east of the plot. 
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Bideford Town Council:  
RESOLVED: That the application is refused on the grounds of overdevelopment of the area. 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
Standing Advice  
 
Environmental Protection:  
In relation to the above application, it is noted that the proposed dwelling is located adjacent to a car 
park to the north and a licensed premises immediately to the north east. The layout of the proposed 
dwelling indicates first floor bedrooms with windows, in particular 'Bedroom 2', will face directly 
towards the car park and licensed premises. Due to the very close proximity of the adjacent land 
uses, the Environmental Protection Team has concerns that the residential amenity of future 
occupants would be adversely impacted from noise and light intrusion associated with vehicles using 
the car park as well as noise associated with the licensed premises which is licensed to open until 
0115 hours. Subsequently, the Environmental Protection Team would not support the application on 
the grounds of the potential adverse impact on the residential amenity of the proposed dwelling.  
 
Mr Andrew Waite:  
No comments received  
 
Conservation Officer:  
I visited this site in February 2019 with the agent to ascertain whether the plot of land was curtilage to 
the listed building. 
 
There is a planning history for the repair of the boundary wall between the garden of Number 5 and 
this parcel of land which formerly was part of the outbuildings and yard of 5 Market Place. The parcel 
of land is not considered to be curtilage to the listed building but is sited within the conservation area. 
 
The area to the north of the site was greatly altered by the clearance of Providence Terrace in the 
1970's which gave access to the parcels of land now used as Honestone Street Car Park. The 
gradient on the site required the construction of substantial stone walls and flights of steps. This work 
was carried out by the District Council and the natural stone walls retaining the land are a key feature 
of this area which is within the conservation area designated for Bideford. 
 
The nature of the gradient means that views of the area are characterised by the roofscape with the 
rhythm of chimneys and views of upper floor windows. Views are limited by the enclosing stone walls 
which range from 2 metres in height upwards. 
 
The duty of the council under section 72 of the Planning(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 which requires that 'special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing 
the character or appearance of that area'. The use of the work 'preserve' implies any scheme should 
not harm the area where it is sited. 
 

Page 44



Additionally paragraphs 200 and 201 of the NPPF relate to conservation areas and in this case 
paragraph 201 is considered most appropriate. In this case there is no loss of a building but rather the 
introduction of a new building into a parcel of land within the conservation area. 
The test for the proposal within the conservation area is equivalent to that for heritage assets under 
paragraph 196 in terms of impact on the significance of the area. 
 
The proposed dwelling is constructed in local vernacular form using a traditional palette of materials 
and includes a chimney feature to punctuate the roof line. The proposal sits within an area bounded 
by stone walls on three sides and runs in line ( east/west)with a range of outbuildings which were 
attached to the rear of number 5 Market Place when it traded as a Coal depot. The new proposal is 
on two storeys whereas the former stores were single storey. 
 
|n this case the new structure will affect views south from the car park and to an extent east from the 
higher part of the car park and steps. Both these views are shown in photographs. The main impact 
will be from the north (car park) elevation where the upper floor and roof will be visible from the car 
park level. This will introduce a new roof within the existing roofscape. 
 
The consideration here has to be level of harm to the views and visual amenity of the area and in this 
case the level of harm is considered to be less than substantial. This leaves the proposal to be 
weighed by the case officer against the public benefits of the proposal under paragraph 196 of the 
NPPF.  
 
South West Water:  
I would have to accept that there will be insufficient room to site a soakaway for surface water 
drainage from the proposed dwelling therefore we would allow surface water to be returned to the 
public sewer by means of an attenuation system and flow control device limiting the rate of discharge 
to 1l/s.  
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  5  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  0 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  0  

 
No representations received 
 

Policy Context: 

 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
ST06 (Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Strategic and Main Centres); BID (Bideford 
Spatial Vision and Development Strategy); ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); DM04 
(Design Principles); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM02 (Environmental Protection); DM08 
(Biodiversity and Geodiversity); ST14 (Enhancing Environmental Assets); DM05 (Highways); DM06 
(Parking Provision); DM07 (Historic Environment); ST03 (Adapting to Climate Change and 
Strengthening Resilience); ST15 (Conserving Heritage Assets);  
 
Government Guidance: 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The main considerations in the determination of this application are: 
 
1) Principle of Development 
2) Design and Impact on Character and Appearance 
3) Impact on Conservation Area and Listed Buildings 

Page 45



4) Impact on Residential Amenity 
5) Drainage 
6) Highways 
7) Ecology 
 
1) Principle of Development 
The application site lies within the development boundary of Bideford and the North Devon and 
Torridge Local Plan (NDTLP) states under policy ST06 that development will be supported within the 
development boundaries of the strategic centres (Bideford). Sustainable development opportunities 
will be secured to increase self-containment and achieve balanced development to enable the town to 
meet its own needs and those of the surrounding area. The Bideford Spatial Strategy (BID) states that 
development will seek to maximise the positive benefits that it can achieve whilst respecting the 
sensitive landscape and environmental setting of the town, its heritage, community spirit and sense of 
place. As a result, the principle of a new dwelling within this location would be supported.  
 
2) Design and Impact on Character and Appearance 
Policies ST04 (improving the quality of development) and DM04 (design considerations) of the 
NDTLP, require new developments to be of high quality design, including being well related to their 
surroundings, be of an appropriate scale, include quality materials, and to be sympathetic to the 
character and appearance of the local area.  
 
The application seeks to introduce a two storey dwelling on a plot of land which has been used as 
domestic garden. The dwelling has been designed to have the principle elevation positioned to the 
north, which comprises of a high retaining wall and a public car park, to the east of the dwelling is a 
licenced premises and residential properties. The dwelling will comprise of a separate kitchen, living 
room, dining room and wc on the ground floor and then two double bedrooms and bathroom on the 
first floor.  The house measures 7.1 metres by 5.0 metres in footprint with an overall ridge height of 
7.4 metres. The amenity space will be to the north/west of the dwelling.  
 
The materials to be used in the construction of the dwelling are blockwork and painted render for the 
elevations with natural slate for the roof. The windows and doors will be painted timber and the 
guttering will be metal. The boundary treatments will consist of natural stone walls. As 
aforementioned, there is no vehicular access or parking proposed with the development and the 
pedestrian access for the property will be to the north east of the site.   
 
The proposal would be considered as back-land development and the surrounding context of the site 
would not create a suitable location for a residential unit of this size. In light of the positioning of the 
dwelling on the plot and the fact that the development would be considered as a family dwelling; the 
proposal provides limited amenity space (approximately 11 sqm) which would not be commensurate 
to the needs of the likely occupiers. In addition, the amenity space that is provided is not of a quality 
or size that would be supported, due to the context of the setting and the useable nature of the space.  
It should be stated that as the site is encompassed by retaining walls, it would feel enclosed as all of 
the ground floor windows will look out onto a wall and in the south elevation there are no windows 
proposed as the dwelling abuts a retaining wall. In light of this, the proposal would not create a good 
sense of place, instead, creating a dwelling that would feel cramped resulting in overdevelopment of 
the site.   
 
As aforementioned, the site is enclosed by a retaining wall, and is currently domestic garden. The site 
sits behind a row of terraced properties which are listed; and when viewing the application site from 
the car park to the north, the views are quite open when looking at the existing roofline. The proposed 
plans detail that the dwelling at the lowest part of the wall, will have a ridge height of approximately 5 
metres above the wall and moving towards the west where the wall increases, the ridge height will be 
seen at approximately 2.7 metres above the wall. The introduction of this dwelling will completely alter 
this location and will have an impact on the view into the rear of the terraced properties, as well as 
views from the car park and the main walk way into the town centre. The proposal would be 
incongruous with its surroundings.  
 

Page 46



In terms of the scale and form of the dwelling, it is considered that although the materials reflect the 
palette of the surrounding properties, the proposed building does not reflect the plot size. It is 
considered that the proposal creates a cramped form of development with inadequate amenity space 
for a two storey family dwelling. The nature of the plot would make the dwelling feel enclosed and 
there would be no outlook from the dwelling, apart from the first floor windows on the north elevation 
which would look out onto the car park. The development does not enhance the character and 
appearance of the area, but instead would create an anomaly within the roofline of a location which is 
not only within the Conservation Area of Bideford but is also aligned with listed buildings.  
 
With this in mind it is considered that the application has not been designed to be sympathetic to the 
location in which it will sit but instead has created a form of development which is of a scale that does 
not reflect the plots size or surrounding context. In light of the above, it is considered that the 
application is contrary to policies DM04 and ST04 of the NDTLP.  
 
3) Impact on Conservation Area and Listed Buildings 
Section 72 of the Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
imposes a duty on Local Planning Authorities when determining an application for planning 
permission which falls within or affects the setting of a conservation area, and special attention must 
be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of the area.  
 
Paragraph 195-196 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that "in weighing 
applications that affect directly or indirectly non designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will 
be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset".  
 
The site is located in the Conservation Area of Bideford and is within 50 metres of a listed building. In 
light of the above, the Conservation Officer was consulted on the proposed scheme. She commented 
the following:  
 
'There is a planning history for the repair of the boundary wall between the garden of Number 5 and 
this parcel of land which formerly was part of the outbuildings and yard of 5 Market Place. The parcel 
of land is not considered to be curtilage to the listed building but is sited within the conservation area. 
 
The area to the north of the site was greatly altered by the clearance of Providence Terrace in the 
1970's which gave access to the parcels of land now used as Honestone Street Car Park. The 
gradient on the site required the construction of substantial stone walls and flights of steps. This work 
was carried out by the District Council and the natural stone walls retaining the land are a key feature 
of this area which is within the conservation area designated for Bideford. 
 
The nature of the gradient means that views of the area are characterised by the roofscape with the 
rhythm of chimneys and views of upper floor windows. Views are limited by the enclosing stone walls 
which range from 2 metres in height upwards. 
 
The duty of the council under section 72 of the Planning(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 which requires that 'special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing 
the character or appearance of that area'. The use of the work 'preserve' implies any scheme should 
not harm the area where it is sited. 
 
Additionally paragraphs 200 and 201 of the NPPF relate to conservation areas and in this case 
paragraph 201 is considered most appropriate. In this case there is no loss of a building but rather the 
introduction of a new building into a parcel of land within the conservation area. 
The test for the proposal within the conservation area is equivalent to that for heritage assets under 
paragraph 196 in terms of impact on the significance of the area. 
 
The proposed dwelling is constructed in local vernacular form using a traditional palette of materials 
and includes a chimney feature to punctuate the roof line. The proposal sits within an area bounded 
by stone walls on three sides and runs in line (east/west) with a range of outbuildings which were 
attached to the rear of number 5 Market Place when it traded as a Coal depot. The new proposal is 
on two storeys whereas the former stores were single storey. 

Page 47



 
|n this case the new structure will affect views south from the car park and to an extent east from the 
higher part of the car park and steps. Both these views are shown in photographs. The main impact 
will be from the north (car park) elevation where the upper floor and roof will be visible from the car 
park level. This will introduce a new roof within the existing roofscape. 
 
The consideration here has to be level of harm to the views and visual amenity of the area and in this 
case the level of harm is considered to be less than substantial. This leaves the proposal to be 
weighed by the case officer against the public benefits of the proposal under paragraph 196 of the 
NPPF.' 
 
The comments made by the Conservation Officer have been considered in detail, when assessing the 
proposed development. As aforementioned the development results in less than substantial harm on 
the significance of the heritage asset, however this needs to weighed up against the fact that the 
introduction of one dwelling in this location would give limited public benefit. For this reason, it is 
considered that there are limited public benefits that at this stage would outweigh the identified harm 
of the proposed development. With this in mind, it is considered that the proposed development does 
not comply with the paragraphs of the NPPF or the policies outlined in the NDTLP, as the harm is not 
outweighed by the benefits of the proposed development.  
 
4) Impact on Residential Amenity 
Policy DM01 of the NDTLP relates to amenity considerations and notes, development will be 
supported where: 
 
a) It would not significantly harm the amenities of any neighbouring occupiers or uses; and 
b) The intended occupants of the proposed development would not be harmed as a result of existing 
or allocated uses.  
 
Policy DM04(i) states that development should ‘ensure the amenities of existing and future 
neighbouring occupiers are safeguarded’.  
 
One of the core principles of the NPPF is to secure high-quality design and a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. No representations have been 
received for the application.  
 
When considering the context of the setting, it should be noted that the proposed dwelling will face 
onto a public car park and to the north east there is a licenced premises. With this in mind the 
Environmental Protection Team has been consulted on the application and they have responded as 
follows: 
 
'The layout of the proposed dwelling indicates first floor bedrooms with windows, in particular 
Bedroom 2, will face directly towards the car park and licensed premises. Due to the very close 
proximity of the adjacent land uses, the Environmental Protection Team has concerns that the 
residential amenity of future occupants would be adversely impacted from noise and light intrusion 
associated with vehicles using the car park as well as noise associated with the licensed premises 
which is licensed to open until 0115 hours. Subsequently, the Environmental Protection Team would 
not support the application on the grounds of the potential adverse impact on the residential amenity 
of the proposed dwelling.' 
 
In light of the consultation response and the initial concerns with amenity space, the Agent did 
respond to rebut these objections. Applications were flagged that had been previously approved in 
and around Bideford; however these schemes were allowed under different circumstances and 
against the previous Local Plan and are therefore not comparable to the application proposal.  
 
Therefore the concerns outlined above are maintained; meaning the proposed development does not 
provide a high-quality design which creates a good standard of amenity for all existing and future 
occupants of the land and buildings. As such, it is considered that the dwelling would have 
substandard amenity space that would not be considered commensurate to the intended occupiers, 

Page 48



causing an impact on the standard of living in this location; therefore contrary to policy DM04. 
Furthermore, the concerns raised by the Environmental Protection Team in respect of noise and light 
disturbance result in the proposal being contrary to Policies DM01, DM02 and DM04 of the NDTLP.   
 
 
5) Drainage 
Policy DM02 of the NDTLP requires that development must not result in unacceptable impacts in 
relation to pollution of surface or ground water, whilst Policy DM04 of the NDTLP establishes that 
water management must be addressed by development.  In addition, the site is located within the 
Critical Drainage Area for Bideford; Policy ST03 requires that existing rates of surface water run-off be 
reduced. 
 
It is detailed on the application form that the site will dispose of surface water and foul drainage 
through the main sewers in the area. South West Water was consulted on the application and 
responded: ' I would have to accept that there will be insufficient room to site a soakaway for surface 
water drainage from the proposed dwelling therefore we would allow surface water to be returned to 
the public sewer by means of an attenuation system and flow control device limiting the rate of 
discharge to 1l/s.' 
 
Taking account of the above, if the application was approved it is considered that the proposal would 
accord with Policies DM02 and DM04. 
 
6) Highways 
Policies DM05 and DM06 states that development must ensure safe and well designed vehicular 
access and egress, with appropriate levels of parking provision within a well designed layout. The 
proposed development does not provide a vehicular access or parking but does provide a pedestrian 
access to the north east of the site. Devon County Council Highways has been consulted on the 
proposed development and they have stated that the application should be dealt with under standing 
advice. In light of this advice, it is considered that as the site is in a sustainable location which has 
good connections to public transport, but is also adjacent a public car park, that the local authority is 
satisfied that the development would be considered to comply with policies DM05 and DM06 of the 
NDTLP.  
 
7) Ecology 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).  This is further 
reinforced within the NDTLP through Policies DM08 and ST14 which state that development 
proposals should conserve and, where possible, enhance biodiversity interests. 
 
The applicant has provided a wildlife trigger list which is considered to accord with the statutory 
requirements as set out above. 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Recommendation 

 
REFUSE for the following reasons: 
 
 1        The proposed dwelling has not been sited and designed to be sympathetic to the location in 

which it will sit, but instead would create a cramped form of backland development. The 
dwelling would not be of a scale that reflects the plot’s size or surrounding context but instead 
would be incongruous with its surroundings. In addition, the proposal would result in limited 
amenity space (approximately 11 sqm) which would not be commensurate to the needs of the 

Page 49



likely occupiers of this dwelling. Therefore, the proposal is contrary to Policies ST04 and 
DM04 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 and the design principles within 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

  
 2         The proposed development, due to its overall scale, height, layout, and appearance does not 

conserve and/or enhance the setting of the Conservation Area and Victoria Terrace, a Grade II 
Listed Building.  There is limited public benefit to outweigh the identified harm. The proposal is 
therefore contrary to Policies ST15 and DM07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 
2011-2031 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 3         The proposed development does not constitute a quality design which creates a good 

standard of amenity for all future occupants. The surrounding uses, including the car park to 
the north and the licensed premises to the east, would give rise to unacceptable impacts on 
future occupants in terms of noise and light intrusion. Therefore, the proposed development 
would be contrary to Policies DM01, DM02 and DM04 of the North Devon and Torridge Local 
Plan 2011-2031. 

 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

    

93/19 - 02  03.06.2019 
   

93/19 - 03  03.06.2019 
   

93/19 - 05  03.06.2019 
  

  

Statement of Engagement 

 
In accordance with paragraphs 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in dealing with 
this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following and positive and proactive 
manner. We have made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the 
Development Plan, Supplementary Planning Documents, Planning Briefs and other informal written 
guidance, as well as offering a full pre-application advice service, in order to ensure that the applicant 
has been given every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably.  
In such ways the Council has demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solution to 
problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
            
In this instance the applicant did not enter into pre-application discussions with the Council. During 
the processing of the application the Agent was contacted with our concerns however the information 
that was submitted did not address these concerns and therefore no further discussions were 
necessary.  
 

Page 50



 
Committee Report – 3rd October 2019 

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/0557/2019/FUL 

Registration date: 17 July 2019 

Expiry date:  11 September 2019 

Applicant:  Carrie Rogers  

Agent:   

Case Officer:  Sarah Boyle 

Site Address:  Land Adjacent Woodside,  
Littleham,  
Bideford, 
Devon, 
EX39 5EE,   
 

Proposal:  Retrospective application for the alteration of 
walled entrance and erection of sand school 

Recommendation: Grant 

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100022736 

 
 

 

Page 51

Agenda Item 11c



 
 

Reason for referral: 

 
This application is brought before members of the Plans Committee for consideration due to the 
applicant being related to a member of staff. 
 

Relevant History: 

 
   

No relevant site history. 
 

Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site Description 
The application site is located in the open countryside and is approximately 275 metres to the south of 
the development boundary of Bideford. The wider site is accessed via an existing access from a 
classified highway which is to the north west of the site. The site subject of this application does not 
have vehicular access but is accessed via the existing access, which is from the yard to the east of 
the main dwelling. The site is bounded by countryside and the nearest neighbouring property is within 
the ownership of the applicant.    
 
Proposed Development 
The application seeks retrospective planning permission for the alteration of the walled entrance and 
the retention of the sand school. The walled entrance has been removed and been left open with a 
new gate to the south. The sand school is sited to the south of the dwelling and will measure 20 
metres by 40 metres. The sand school is fenced with 90mm posts with approximately 1.8 metre 
centres and is 1.3 metres high. There are two gates in to the sand school. The riding surface is 
constructed of re-cycled carpet fibres with a herringbone drainage system below. The drainage 
system is covered with clean stone, and then a membrane on top of the stone. 
 

Consultee representations: 

 
Alwington Parish Council:  
No comments received 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
Standing Advice  
 

Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  4  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  0 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  0  

 
No representations have been received 
 

Policy Context: 

 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
ST07 (Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Rural Area); DM16 (Equine Development); 
ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); DM04 (Design Principles); DM01 (Amenity 
Considerations); DM08 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity); ST14 (Enhancing Environmental Assets);  
 
 
 

Page 52



 
Government Guidance: 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 

Planning Considerations 

 
The main considerations for this application are: 
 
1. Principle of Development 
2. Impact on Character and Appearance 
3. Impact on Amenity 
4. Highway Safety 
5. Ecology 
6. Conclusion 
 
1. Principle of Development 
In planning terms, the site is considered to be located in the open countryside, outside of any 
recognised settlement.  Policy ST07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (NDTLP) is 
considered relevant. Policy ST07 provides a settlement hierarchy for Northern Devon's rural area to 
direct where development should be distributed, by specifying areas falling within Local Centres, 
Villages and Rural Settlements. Locations falling outside these would be considered to be an open 
countryside location. Part 4 of Policy ST07 states that in the countryside, development will be limited 
to that which is enabled to meet local economic and social need, rural building reuse and 
development which is necessarily restricted to a countryside location.  
 
In addition to policy ST07, policy DM16 details equine development and how it should be considered. 
Policy DM16 states that horse related facilities and equestrian enterprises in the countryside will be 
supported, where;  
 
- ‘priority is given to the re-use of existing buildings, and where justified new buildings or ancillary 
development is well related to existing buildings; 
- well integrated, with the surroundings and is of a scale and design so as not to harm the character 
and landscape of the rural area.  
- The operation is not detrimental to the amenity of nearby residents; and 
- The development is convenient for suitable existing riding areas and where necessary, access is 
acceptable without detriment to the safety of users of the public highway’.  
 
Taking the above into account, it is considered that the principle of alterations to the entrance and the 
retention of the sand school to be used as an exercise/turnout area for horses, in a countryside 
location, is an activity that meets these policy considerations and is seen as an appropriate use. As 
such, the development accords with Policies ST07 and DM16 of the NDTLP.   
 
2. Impact on Character and Appearance 
Policies ST04 (improving the quality of development) and DM04 (design considerations) of the 
NDTLP, require new developments to be of high quality design, including being well related to their 
surroundings, be of an appropriate scale, include quality materials, and to be sympathetic to the 
character and appearance of the local area.  
 
Policy DM16 of the NDTLP makes certain provisions for equine development provided it is of a scale 
and design as not to harm the character and landscape of the rural area. The riding area will be for 
private use only, measuring 20 metres in width and 40 metres in length.  The sand school is set down 
in the field and is fenced with 90mm posts with approximately 1.8 metre centres and is 1.3 metres 
high. There are two gates into the sand school. The riding surface is constructed of re-cycled carpet 
fibres. The riding surface is constructed of re-cycled carpet fibres with a herringbone drainage system 
below. The drainage system is covered with clean stone, and then a membrane on top of the stone.  
 

Page 53



The site is set back from the roadside and benefits from being bounded by hedgerow and trees and 
the land surrounding the site is in the applicant’s ownership. It is proposed that the hedgerow and 
trees will be untouched and this will add to the natural screening of the sand school.  The proposed 
sand school is not considered to have a detrimental impact on visual amenity and is suitably designed 
for its intended purpose. In addition, the alterations to the walled entrance would not have an impact 
on the character of the access and will allow for better visibility from the site. Therefore, the proposals 
are considered to be in accordance with Policies ST04, DM04, and DM16 of the NDTLP.  
 
3. Impact on Amenity 
Policy DM01 of the NDTLP relates to amenity considerations and notes, development will be 
supported where: 
 
a) It would not significantly harm the amenities of any neighbouring occupiers or uses; and 
b) The intended occupants of the proposed development would not be harmed as a result of existing 
or allocated uses.  
 
One of the core principles of the NPPF is to secure high-quality design and a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. The proposal, due to its isolated 
location and the nearest residential property being in the applicants ownership, is not expected to give 
rise to any amenity issues. However, a condition should be imposed to ensure that the storage of 
manure is at least 50m away from any residential properties to avoid any potential nuisance. In light of 
the above, the proposed development is in accordance with Policy DM01.  
 
4. Highway Safety  
Policies DM05 and DM06 state that development must ensure safe and well designed vehicular 
access and egress, with appropriate levels of parking provision within a well designed layout. The site 
has an existing access where the walled entrance has been removed and opened slightly with new 
gates to the south. The wider site is accessed off of a classified highway and located to the north west 
of the site. It has been detailed in the application that the sand school does not have access from the 
highway, but would be accessed via the existing yard on site behind the main dwelling. It has also 
been noted that the sand school is for personal use only. Devon County Council Highways has been 
consulted on the application and they have commented that it should be dealt with under standing 
advice. In light of the information provided, if the application is to be approved then a condition should 
be attached to restrict the sand school to personal use only and for it not to be connected to a 
commercial equestrian enterprise.  
 
In light of the above, the proposed development is considered to be in accordance with Policies DM05 
and DM06 of the NDTLP.  
 
5. Ecology 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).  This is further 
reinforced within the NDTLP through Policies DM08 and ST14 which state that development 
proposals should conserve and, where possible, enhance biodiversity interests. 
 
After visiting the site and assessing the submitted information, it is considered that as the works have 
already been carried out, there would have been minimal impact on the site and so it is unlikely that 
any protected species (such as bats) were harmed by the development or that it resulted in any 
habitat lost. As such, the proposal is considered to fulfil the above statutory duties and the provisions 
of NDTLP policies DM08 and ST14 and the requirements of the NPPF. 
 
6. Conclusion 
The proposed development is considered to result in an acceptable impact on the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area, and would not result in a harmful impact on the amenities of 
neighbouring occupiers.  In addition, the development would not result in a harmful impact on 

Page 54



protected species. In light of the above, the application complies with the policies outlined in the 
NDTLP. 
 

Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Conclusion 

 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 

Recommendation 

 
GRANT subject to the following conditions 
 
 1         The development hereby permitted shall be retained in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
                        
 Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
 2         The development hereby permitted shall only be used for private and domestic purposes and 

shall not be used in connection with any commercial equestrian enterprise. 
                                             
           Reason: In the interests of amenity and to enable the Local Planning Authority to regulate and 

control the development in accordance with the provisions of Policy DM16 of the North Devon 
and Torridge Local Plan. 

 
 3         For the avoidance of doubt, the storage of manure shall be stored at least 50m away from any 

residential property.  
                                  
           Reason: In the interests of preserving residential amenity. 
 

Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

Location Plan  20.06.2019 
   

Site Plan  09.07.2019 
   

Elevations  09.07.2019 
   

Gate Elevation  17.07.2019 
   

Gate Elevation  17.07.2019 
  

  

Statement of Engagement 

 
In accordance with paragraphs 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in dealing with 
this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following positive and proactive 
manner. In this instance there was no need for further engagement as the development as submitted 
is considered to accord with the development plan.  In such ways the Council has demonstrated a 
positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to problems arising in relation to the planning 
application. 

Page 55



Torridge District Council 

 Planning Decisions 

Between 22
nd

 August 2019 and 19
th

 September 2019 

 

List of Applications 
 

Permitted 
 
Application 
No: 

Officer Proposal and Address Applicant Decision/Date 

 
1/0627/2019/
TRE 

Kristian 
Evely 

Works to a tree covered by 
TPO/0001/2003 - Reduce crown by 
a maximum of three metres and 
removal of epicormic growth and 
deadwood. - Cherry Trees, 10 
Orchard Gate, Dolton. 

Ms Carol 
Skrzypczak 

PARAPP 
22.08.2019 

 
1/0683/2019/
HPD 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Single storey rear extension and 
existing rear store and outside toilet 
to be demolished - 5 Geneva Place, 
Bideford, Devon. 

Darren Mayne PERDET 
03.09.2019 

 
1/1107/2018/
FULM 

Shaun 
Harringt
on 

Variation of condition 2 and 11 of 
planning permission 
1/0191/2012/FULM to vary the 
occupancy of plots 45 and 46; 
addition of conservatory to units 32, 
33, 35 and 40 ; and the change of 
housetypes and layout of units 32, 
34, 40 and  43 to 46 (Amended 
Description) pursuant to application 
reference 1/1107/2018/FULM 
(Amended Description) - Rydon 
Village, Land Off Molesworth Way, 
Holsworthy. 

David Kennedy 
Mcgregor 

PER 
22.08.2019 

 
1/1125/2018/
FUL 

James 
Jackson 

Demolition of existing sheds to allow 
for replacement log cabin to provide 
ancillary accommodation to main 
dwelling - Aish Lodge, 
Petrockstowe, Okehampton. 

Mr Mark 
Tomlinson 

PER 
02.09.2019 

 
1/0155/2019/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Conversion of redundant building to 
dwelling - Hollacombe Barn, 
Hollocombe, Devon. 

Ms Sarah 
Beverley 

PER 
29.08.2019 

 
1/0175/2019/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Proposed extension and alterations. 
- The Spinney, Winsford Lane, 
Halwill Junction. 

Mr & Mrs David 
and Emma 
Valder and 
Chapman 

PER 
13.09.2019 

 

Page 56

Agenda Item 12



1/0212/2019/
FUL 

Sarah 
Boyle 

Conversion of barn to dwelling 
(Amended red edge and plans) - 
Barn At Lodge Farm, Monkleigh, 
Devon. 

Mr A Grills PER 
19.09.2019 

 
1/0236/2019/
REM 

Angelo 
Massos 

Reserved matters application 
pursuant to outline application 
1/1249/2016/OUT (Affecting a public 
right of way) - Land Adjacent To 
Frogapool, Woodacott Cross, 
Devon. 

Mr And Mrs 
Simon Davey 

PER 
23.08.2019 

 
1/0247/2019/
AGMB 

James 
Jackson 

Prior notification for the change of 
use of agricultural building to 1no. 
dwellings under Class Q and 
associated operational development 
- Barn At Elm Park Farm, 
Pancrasweek, EX22 7JS. 

Julia Warren PER 
29.08.2019 

 
1/0259/2019/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Proposed agricultural building - 
Land At Grid Reference 232526 
113194, Bradworthy, Devon. 

Mr Iain Werren PER 
06.09.2019 

 
1/0335/2019/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Erection of new fence boundary - 
Brackenside, Bucks Cross, 
Bideford. 

Parkdean 
Resorts UK Ltd 

PER 
06.09.2019 

 
1/0416/2019/
CPE 

James 
Jackson 

Certificate of Existing Lawful Use for 
the use as a single detached 
dwelling - Chapel Hill, Coach Drive, 
Bideford. 

Mrs R Hockley PER 
02.09.2019 

 
1/0425/2019/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Part retrospective application to 
regularise 6 caravan and 2 camping 
pitches and use of lodge no. 4 as 
manager's accommodation. - 
Woodacott Holiday Park, 
Woodacott, Holsworthy. 

Ms Lisa Serra PER 
27.08.2019 

 
1/0452/2019/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Formation of lay-by disabled parking 
space - 11 Rectory Road, Dolton, 
Winkleigh. 

Mrs J Drayton PER 
13.09.2019 

 
1/0461/2019/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Extension to holiday let - Mole 
Cottage, Hartland, Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs 
Emery 

PER 
06.09.2019 

 
1/0462/2019/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Reduction in size of existing garage 
by 2.5 metres and replacement of 
corrugated roof - Glenburnie West, 
Glenburnie Road, Bideford. 

Mr Andy 
Bristow 

PER 
23.08.2019 

 
1/0466/2019/
FUL 

Laura 
Davies 

Addition of basement for Spa and 
demolition and erection of Wheal 
House - Site Of Manor Inn, 
Woolsery, Devon. 

Prince Albert 
Road Ltd 

PER 
06.09.2019 

 
 
 

Page 57



1/0467/2019/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Alterations and additions to existing 
manor house and outbuildings - Site 
Of Manor Inn, Woolsery, Devon. 

Prince Albert 
Road Ltd 

PER 
06.09.2019 

 
1/0476/2019/
OUT 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Outline application for one dwelling 
with all matters reserved except 
access - Twiney Park, Holsworthy, 
Devon. 

Mrs 
Worthington 

PER 
29.08.2019 

 
1/0507/2019/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Proposed extension and alterations 
- Golden Park, Hartland, Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs 
Yeomans 

PER 
23.08.2019 

 
1/0514/2019/
FUL 

Sarah 
Boyle 

Two storey rear extension and a 
single storey front extension to 
porch - 2 West View, Yarnscombe, 
Barnstaple. 

Ms Martine 
Bishop 

PER 
04.09.2019 

 
1/0517/2019/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

First floor extension and alterations 
to dwelling - Ashcote, Diddywell 
Close, Northam. 

Mr Middleton PER 
22.08.2019 

 
1/0523/2019/
FUL 

James 
Jackson 

Conversion of outbuilding to 
dwelling (Resubmission of 
1/0925/2017/FUL) - Ruscombe 
Lodge, St Giles On The Heath, 
Launceston. 

Mrs Luckman PER 
29.08.2019 

 
1/0526/2019/
CPE 

Sarah 
Boyle 

Certificate of lawfulness for 
construction of two existing single 
storey extensions. - Splatt, 
Shebbear, Beaworthy. 

Mr Allen 
Boycott 

PER 
06.09.2019 

 
1/0532/2019/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Erection of Steel Portal Frame 
Building for Livestock Housing - 
Chapple Farm, Dolton, Winkleigh. 

Mr Oliver 
Hudson 

PER 
22.08.2019 

 
1/0534/2019/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

First floor extension to provide 
additional bathroom - 21 The 
Strand, Bideford, Devon. 

Mr Graham 
Persson 

PER 
18.09.2019 

 
1/0552/2019/
FUL 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

First floor extension to provide 
additional bathroom - 21 The 
Strand, Bideford, Devon. 

Mr Graham 
Persson 

PER 
18.09.2019 

 
1/0542/2019/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Proposed agricultural linked building 
- Land West Of Friesland , 
Sutcombe, Devon. 

Mr D Furse PER 
29.08.2019 

 
1/0544/2019/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Reduction in the height of a stone 
wall to 1m on the edge of 
playground. - High Bickington 
Church Of England Primary School, 
High Street, High Bickington. 

TEAM Multi 
Academy Trust 

PER 
29.08.2019 

 
1/0559/2019/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

To put tables and chairs on the 
pavement outside the cafe - Otters, 
9 The Quay, Bideford. 

Mrs Wendy 
Barter 

PER 
29.08.2019 

 

Page 58



1/0568/2019/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Erection of a timber frame building 
for storage - Land At Grid Reference 
232122 114168, Mill Road, 
Bradworthy. 

Mr John Nance-
kivell 

PER 
16.09.2019 

 
1/0561/2019/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Variation of conditon 1 (plans 
schedule) of planning permission 
1/0853/2018/REM (revised drive 
layout) - Land At Grid Reference 
232525 113677, Bradworthy, 
Devon. 

Mr A Boyd PER 
27.08.2019 

 
1/0576/2019/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Replacement of existing Fascia, 
projecting sign and ATM signage 
including works for the preparation 
and decoration of existing shop front 
for  replacement of existing ATM 
and surround - Nationwide, 20 The 
Quay, Bideford. 

Mr Jonathan 
Morris 

PER 
06.09.2019 

 
1/0577/2019/
ADV 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Replacement of existing Fascia, 
projecting sign and ATM signage 
including works for the preparation 
and decoration of existing shop front 
for  replacement of existing ATM 
and surround - Nationwide, 20 The 
Quay, Bideford. 

Mr Jonathan 
Morris 

PER 
06.09.2019 

 
1/0578/2019/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Part retrospective retention of 
extensions and internal alterations. 
Recladding of house with external 
insulation.  
 - Littleweke, South Drive, 
Torrington. 

Mr & Mrs Brian 
Furness 

PER 
23.08.2019 

 
1/0581/2019/
CPL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Certificate of proposed lawful use 
for insertion of window to rear 
elevation - 1 Rectory Close, 
Buckland Brewer, Bideford. 

Mr Pickard PER 
23.08.2019 

 
1/0583/2019/
FUL 

James 
Jackson 

2.5 metre extension to the East end 
of an existing barn, benefiting from 
approval under Class Q, for 
residential conversion. - Barn At Elm 
Park Farm, Pancrasweek, EX22 
7JS. 

Mrs Julia 
Warren 

PER 
29.08.2019 

 
1/0585/2019/
FUL 

Laura 
Davies 

Proposed wildlife pond - Penstowe , 
Staddon Road, Holsworthy. 

Mr & Mrs R 
Catterall 

PER 
28.08.2019 

 
1/0592/2019/
FUH 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Proposed Roof Windows to Loft 
Space - 30 Waterloo Gardens, 
Torrington, Devon. 

Mr N Hopkins PER 
03.09.2019 

 
1/0594/2019/
FUL 

Sarah 
Boyle 

Rear sub-level extension, dormer 
windows to rear roof slope and 
internal alterations. - Seawynds, 
Lakenham Hill, Northam. 

Mr Simon Stead PER 
30.08.2019 

Page 59



 
1/0597/2019/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Conversion of the existing garage, 
shed and external patio to provide 
additional internal accommodation - 
2 Hilliers, Dolton, Winkleigh. 

Mr David Atton PER 
29.08.2019 

 
1/0598/2019/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Erection of a detached garage - 25 
Auction Way, Woolsery, Bideford. 

Mr Arthur 
Shackson 

PER 
06.09.2019 

 
1/0599/2019/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Change of use from residential (C3) 
to hairdressing salon (A1) and 
residential (mixed use) - 23 Atlantic 
Way, Westward Ho!, Bideford. 

Susan Vines PER 
29.08.2019 

 
1/0600/2019/
FUL 

James 
Jackson 

Conversion of rear of existing 
ground floor commercial space into 
2 no. flats, and the reduction in size 
of the retained commercial space. 
(Resubmission of 1/1127/2018/FUL) 
- 72 High Street, Bideford, Devon. 

Mr John 
Whitten 

PER 
30.08.2019 

 
1/0601/2019/
LBC 

James 
Jackson 

Conversion of rear of existing 
ground floor commercial space into 
2 no. flats, and the reduction in size 
of the retained commercial space 
(Resubmission of 1/1128/2018/LBC) 
- 72 High Street, Bideford, Devon. 

Mr John 
Whitten 

PER 
30.08.2019 

 
1/0612/2019/
FUL 

Sarah 
Boyle 

Erection of roof over yard area 
between cattle sheds to prevent 
water run off - Lower Bransgrove 
Farm, Wembworthy, Chulmleigh. 

Mrs A French PER 
17.09.2019 

 
1/0019/2019/
NMAT 

Angelo 
Massos 

Non material amendment to 
application 1/1212/2017/FUH - 
Alteration to fenestration details and 
structure of conservatory - 15 
Richmond Green, Appledore, 
Bideford. 

Mrs Tricia Leigh PER 
16.09.2019 

 
1/0615/2019/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Demolition of existing single storey 
side extension and replacement with 
two storey side extension to include 
new treatment plant (Affecting a 
Public Right of Way) - 1 West Peeke 
Bungalows, Luffincott, Holsworthy. 

Mr & Mrs 
Pearce 

PER 
27.08.2019 

 
1/0620/2019/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Two storey side extension, 
alterations to retaining walls and 
single storey rear extension - 17 
Lenwood Park, Bideford, Devon. 

Mr & Mrs 
Richards 

PER 
02.09.2019 

 
1/0623/2019/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Erection of no.1 dwelling - Re-
design of Plot 6 pursuant to 
applications 1/1091/2008/OUT and 
1/0736/2012/REM - 10 Southlands 
Drive, Langtree, Devon. 

Mr Steve 
Williams -
Langtree 
Developments 
Ltd 

PER 
17.09.2019 

 

Page 60



1/0624/2019/
FUL 

Laura 
Davies 

Creation of new vehicular access - 
Granville Cottage, Buckland Brewer, 
Bideford. 

Mrs Carol 
Rowling 

PER 
06.09.2019 

 
1/0625/2019/
FUL 

Laura 
Davies 

Conversion of existing barn to no.1 
dwelling and associated works - 
Land At Grid Reference 231879 
101689, Pyworthy, Devon. 

Mr & Mrs Mark 
& Bernie Jones 

PER 
06.09.2019 

 
1/0626/2019/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

9 no. new glazed external openings. 
2 no. existing openings (glazed 
doors and roller shutter) changed 
into fixed glazed units - Units 18 To 
20 , Daddon Court, Clovelly Road 
Industrial Estate. 

Mr Jim Capron PER 
03.09.2019 

 
1/0637/2019/
FUH 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Single storey double garage - 
Brambles, Milton Damerel, 
Holsworthy. 

Mr Chris 
Palmer 

PER 
30.08.2019 

 
1/0638/2019/
FUL 

James 
Jackson 

Change of use of agricultural land to 
garden for domestic use for barn 2 
(Barnacott) including the erection of 
2 garden sheds  
 - Barnacott, Sheepwash, 
Beaworthy. 

Mr Andy 
Vincent 

PER 
02.09.2019 

 
     
 
1/0641/2019/
FUL 

Helen 
Smith 

Conversion of part of B8 warehouse 
into single planning unit - Unit 8, 
Caddsdown Industrial Park, 
Bideford. 

Mr Peter Hockin PER 
18.09.2019 

 
1/0642/2019/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Car Port - Little Ladford, Shebbear, 
Beaworthy. 

Mr G Baglow PER 
05.09.2019 

 
1/0650/2019/
COU 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Change of use of part of the existing 
tyre garage (B2) to include repair 
and maintenance of motor vehicles 
and MOT centre (B2 & Sui Generis) 
- Bathwick Tyres, The Pill, Kingsley 
Road. 

 PER 
18.09.2019 

 
1/0644/2019/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Single storey side extension 
including alteration of existing 
retaining walls together with 
retrospective application for existing 
front extension - 56 Abbotsham 
Road, Bideford, Devon. 

Mr & Mrs Steve 
Davies 

PER 
06.09.2019 

 
1/0645/2019/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Conversion of detached barn to 
holiday cottage - Lower Luckworthy 
Farm, Ashwater, Beaworthy. 

Mr K Mowbray PER 
16.09.2019 

 
1/0646/2019/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Conversion of detached barn to 
holiday cottage - Lower Luckworthy 
Farm, Ashwater, Beaworthy. 

Mr K Mowbray PER 
16.09.2019 

Page 61



 
1/0657/2019/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Erection of detached garage and 
store - 1 Lower Meadow, 
Bradworthy, Devon. 

Mr And Mrs Jon 
Schiller 

PER 
13.09.2019 

 
1/0660/2019/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Two storey side extension - 12 
Auction Way, Woolsery, Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs D A 
Rowe 

PER 
09.09.2019 

 
1/0661/2019/
FUL 

Sarah 
Boyle 

Creation of new access for existing 
farm including turning and parking 
for existing dwelling - Woodwall, 
Frithelstock, Torrington. 

Mr I Brown PER 
17.09.2019 

 
1/0662/2019/
FUL 

Laura 
Davies 

Erection of site entrance gate and 
new boundary wall - Land At Grid 
Reference 247191 126231, Mines 
Road, East The Water. 

Dorset Country 
Homes Ltd 

PER 
06.09.2019 

 
1/0665/2019/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Change of Use from Annexe to 
Dwelling House (class C3) - Little 
Greylake, West Greylake, 
Yarnscombe. 

Mr Jeremy 
Drakeford 

PER 
17.09.2019 

 
     
 
1/0672/2019/
FUH 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Porch to front elevation - 4 Manor 
Park, Bradworthy, Holsworthy. 

Mr Charles 
Balsdon 

PER 
02.09.2019 

 
1/0685/2019/
FUL 

Sarah 
Boyle 

Replacement steps to rear of 
property - 180 Stucley Road, 
Bideford, Devon. 

Mrs A 
Stoneman 

PER 
13.09.2019 

 
1/0688/2019/
TRE 

Kristian 
Evely 

Works to four Sycamore trees 
covered by TPO/0001/1987. Works 
includes a 2.5 metre crown 
reduction of tree labelled 'W', and 
the reduction of the remaining trees 
to previously pollarded points. - 
Land At Grid Reference 243299 
128975, Kingsley Road, Westward 
Ho!. 

Mr Brian Warne PER 
06.09.2019 

 
1/0020/2019/
NMAT 

Helen 
Smith 

Non material amendment to 
application 1/1240/2017/FULM for 
small canopy at entrance, perimeter 
fence and amendments to retaining 
wall structure - Land At Grid 
Reference 243177 125632, Clovelly 
Road, Bideford. 

TJL UK Limited PER 
12.09.2019 

 
1/0705/2019/
FUH 

Angelo 
Massos 

2-storey side extension and internal 
alterations - 75 Oaklands, Bideford, 
Devon. 

Mr Spencer 
Dennis 

PER 
17.09.2019 

 
1/0716/2019/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Demolition of existing public toilets 
and erection of a garage - Public 
Conveniences, Jubilee Road, 
Appledore. 

Ms Clare 
Ferguson 

PER 
10.09.2019 

Page 62



 
1/0717/2019/
FUH 

Angelo 
Massos 

Single storey rear extension - 
Chantwell, First Raleigh, Bideford. 

Mr Paul Wilson PER 
16.09.2019 

 
1/0747/2019/
FUH 

Angelo 
Massos 

Extension to property, including the 
creation of new roof to 
accommodate new first floor, and 
new detached garage - 47 
Richmond Park, Northam, Bideford. 

Mr David 
Griffiths 

PER 
16.09.2019 

 
1/0757/2019/
PIP 

Helen 
Smith 

Change of use of land and 
construction of minimum 1 and 
maximum 2 no. dwellings - 
resubmission of application 
1/0191/2019/PIP - Land At Back 
Lane, Torrington, Devon. 

Mr David 
Chapman 

PER 
17.09.2019 

 
1/0027/2019/
NMAT 

Kristian 
Evely 

Non-material amendment to 
application 1/1009/2017/FUL - Re-
positioning of caravans Plot 7 Type 
B, Plot 8 Type B, Plot 18 Type B, 
and Plot 19 Type B. - Braddicks 
Holiday Centre, Merley Road, 
Westward Ho!. 

Mr Robert 
Braddick 

PER 
18.09.2019 

 
1/0106/2019/
FUL 

Shaun 
Harringt
on 

New 8th hole tees & green, new 9th 
hole tees, amendments to 7th hole 
green, timber access bridge and 
associated bunkers - Royal North 
Devon Golf Club, Westward Ho!, 
Bideford. 

Royal North 
Devon Golf 
Club 

PERDET 
06.09.2019 

 
1/0690/2019/
HPD 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Removal of existing conservatory 
and erection of single storey rear 
extension extending beyond the rear 
wall of the dwellinghouse by 4.3m, 
for with the maximum height of 2.8m 
and an eaves height of 2.8m. - 12 
Auction Way, Woolsery, Bideford. 

Mr A Rowe PERDET 
11.09.2019 

 
1/0760/2019/
HPD 

Sarah 
Boyle 

Single storey rear extension -  8m to 
rear property, Eaves height of 
2.35m and maximum proposed 
height of extension 4m - Trevisa, 
Stibb Cross, Torrington. 
 

                 Refused 

Mr Ian Facey PERDET 
10.09.2019 

 
1/0427/2019/
FUL 

Laura 
Davies 

Conversion of first floor of 
outbuilding into apartment (C3) - 87 
Honestone Street, Bideford, Devon. 

Mrs E Trick, 
Mrs K Moore & 
Mrs S Pilbrow 

REF 
23.08.2019 

 
1/0433/2019/
FUL 

Sarah 
Boyle 

Application for the retention of 
timber building including erection of 
poly tunnels - Land At Reeds Farm, 
Beaford, Devon. 
 
 

Mr John Palmer REF 
29.08.2019 

Page 63



 
1/0565/2019/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Two storey dwelling and garage - 
Land Adjacent To Budaire 
Bungalow, Highampton, Beaworthy. 

Mr & Mrs Ray 
Nelson 

REF 
02.09.2019 

 
1/0609/2019/
CPL 

Laura 
Davies 

Certificate of proposed lawful use 
for donkey rides being ancillary to a 
mixed used for agriculture and the 
keeping of donkeys - Highford Farm, 
Higher Clovelly, Devon. 

Mr & Mrs B and 
S Kelly 

REF 
29.08.2019 

 
 
 
 
     
 
 
     
 
 

Page 64


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	8 Appeal Decisions Summary
	a) Appeal Decision 3223987
	b) APPEAL DECISION 3233930
	c) Appeal Decision 3212851
	d) 3220910 APPEAL DECISION
	e) APPEAL DECISION 3222236

	10 Delegated Decisions - AGMB Applications
	11a Application No. 1/0629/2019/FUL
	11b Application No. 1/0478/2019/FUL
	11c Application No. 1/0557/2019/FUL
	12 Planning Decisions

